# **ElectraNet**

# ElectraNet Transmission Network Revenue Reset Regulatory Information Notice

# **ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement**

1 July 2018 to 30 June 2023 March 2017 Version 1





# Company Information

ElectraNet Pty Ltd (ElectraNet) is the principal electricity transmission network service provider (TNSP) in South Australia.

For information about ElectraNet visit <u>www.electranet.com.au</u>.

## Contact

For enquiries about this Revenue Proposal please contact:

Simon Appleby Senior Manager Regulation & Land Management ElectraNet 52-55 East Terrace Adelaide SA 5000

revenue.reset@electranet.com.au

## Copyright and Disclaimer

Copyright in this material is owned by or licensed to ElectraNet. Permission to publish, modify, commercialise or alter this material must be sought directly from ElectraNet.

ElectraNet, its officers and shareholders disclaim any responsibility for the use of this document for a different purpose or in a different context.

Reasonable endeavours have been used to ensure that the information contained in this document is accurate at the time of writing. However, ElectraNet, its directors, officers and shareholders give no warranty and accept no liability for any loss or damage incurred in reliance on this information. Forecasts, projections and forward looking statements included in this document are subject to change and amongst other things, reflect information, data, methodologies, legislation, judicial and tribunal decisions, regulatory guidance, assumptions, prevailing market estimates, assessments, standards, and factors current at the time of publication.

#### Note

This basis of preparation forms part of our Revenue Proposal for the 2018-19 to 2022-23 regulatory control period. It should be read in conjunction with the other parts of the Revenue Proposal.

Our Revenue Proposal comprises the attachments listed below, and the supporting documents that are listed in Attachment 15:

Attachment 2 – Regulatory asset base Attachment 3 – Rate of return
Attachment 2 Data of raturn
Allachment 5 – Rate of felum
Attachment 4 – Value of imputation credits
Attachment 5 – Regulatory depreciation
Attachment 6 – Capital expenditure
Attachment 7 – Operating expenditure
Attachment 8 – Corporate income tax
Attachment 9 – Efficiency benefit sharing scheme
Attachment 10 – Capital expenditure sharing scheme
Attachment 11 – Service target performance incentive scheme
Attachment 12 – Pricing methodology
Attachment 13 – Pass through events
Attachment 14 – Negotiated services
Attachment 15 – List of supporting documents



In addition to the Revenue Proposal and above mentioned documents our Regulatory Information Notice comprises the documents listed below:

PwC Audit and Review Opinions

Statutory Declaration

Basis of Preparation – Historical

Workbook 1 – Regulatory Determination

MIC Data Template 2010

MIC Data Template 2011

MIC Data Template 2012

MIC Data Template 2013

MIC Data Template 2014

MIC Data Template 2015

MIC Data Template 2016

Non – coincident and MVA Maximum Demand Measures Methodology

Map of Transmission System

Corporate Structure

Service Target Performance Incentive Scheme Network Capability Component: Network Limits Information

ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016 (this document)

Forecast Expenditure Preparation Overview Assumption Information

# Contents

1. ELECTRANET ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2016
---



# 1. ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016



# DECISION

*Fair Work Act 2009* s.185—Enterprise agreement

# ElectraNet Pty Ltd T/A ElectraNet (AG2016/5209)

# **ELECTRANET ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2016**

Electrical power industry

DEPUTY PRESIDENT BARTEL

#### ADELAIDE, 14 SEPTEMBER 2016

Electranet Enterprise Agreement 2016.

[1] An application for approval of an enterprise agreement known as the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016 (the Agreement) has been made by ElectraNet Pty Ltd T/A ElectraNet (the employer). The application has been made pursuant to s.185 of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (the Act) and is an application for a single-enterprise agreement.

[2] The Agreement does not contain a Consultation provision that reflects the requirements of ss.205(1)(a)(ii) and 205(1A) of the Act. This matter was discussed with the parties at a hearing on 13 September 2016 and I was satisfied that the model consultation term is required to be applied in this matter in accordance with s.205(2) of the Act. The Agreement was approved on that day and this decision reflects the terms of the approval as recorded on transcript.

[3] The model consultation term is taken to be a term of the Agreement. It is appended to this decision and to the Agreement as Schedule 'A'.

[4] I am satisfied that each of the requirements of ss.186, 187 and 188 of the Act, as are relevant to this application for approval, have been met.

[5] The Australian Services Union, SA & NT Branch (the ASU), the Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists & Managers Australia (APESMA) and the Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union of Australia, SA Branch (the CEPU) being bargaining representatives for the Agreement, has each given notice under s.183 of the Act that it wants to be covered by the Agreement. As required by s.201(2) of the Act, I note that the Agreement covers the ASU, APESMA and the CEPU.

[6] The Agreement is approved. In accordance with s.54(1) of the Act, the Agreement will operate from 20 September 2016. The nominal expiry date of the Agreement is 30 June 2018.

[2016] FWCA 6639



# DEPUTY PRESIDENT

Printed by authority of the Commonwealth Government Printer

<Price code J, AE421138 PR585444>

# **Schedule** A

### Schedule 2.3—Model consultation term

(regulation 2.09)

#### Model consultation term

- (1) This term applies if the employer:
  - (a) has made a definite decision to introduce a major change to production, program, organisation, structure or technology in relation to its enterprise that is likely to have a significant effect on the employees; or
  - (b) proposes to introduce a change to the regular roster or ordinary hours of work of employees.

#### Major change

- (2) For a major change referred to in paragraph (1)(a):
  - (a) the employer must notify the relevant employees of the decision to introduce the major change; and
  - (b) subclauses (3) to (9) apply.
- (3) The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- (4) If:
  - (a) a relevant employee appoints, or relevant employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and
  - (b) the employee or employees advise the employer of the identity of the representative;

the employer must recognise the representative.

- (5) As soon as practicable after making its decision, the employer must:
  - (a) discuss with the relevant employees:
    - (i) the introduction of the change; and
    - (ii) the effect the change is likely to have on the employees; and
    - (iii) measures the employer is taking to avert or mitigate the adverse effect of the change on the employees; and
  - (b) for the purposes of the discussion—provide, in writing, to the relevant employees:
    - (i) all relevant information about the change including the nature of the change proposed; and
    - (ii) information about the expected effects of the change on the employees; and
      - (iii) any other matters likely to affect the employees.
- (6) However, the employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employees.
- (7) The employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the major change by the relevant employees.

- (8) If a term in this agreement provides for a major change to production, program, organisation, structure or technology in relation to the enterprise of the employer, the requirements set out in paragraph (2)(a) and subclauses (3) and (5) are taken not to apply.
- (9) In this term, a major change is *likely to have a significant effect on employees* if it results in:
  - (a) the termination of the employment of employees; or
  - (b) major change to the composition, operation or size of the employer's workforce or to the skills required of employees; or
  - (c) the elimination or diminution of job opportunities (including opportunities for promotion or tenure); or
  - (d) the alteration of hours of work; or
  - (e) the need to retrain employees; or
  - (f) the need to relocate employees to another workplace; or
  - (g) the restructuring of jobs.

Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work

- (10) For a change referred to in paragraph (1)(b):
  - (a) the employer must notify the relevant employees of the proposed change; and
  - (b) subclauses (11) to (15) apply.

(11) The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.

(12) If:

- (a) a relevant employee appoints, or relevant employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and
- (b) the employee or employees advise the employer of the identity of the representative;

the employer must recognise the representative.

- (13) As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce the change, the employer must:
  - (a) discuss with the relevant employees the introduction of the change; and
  - (b) for the purposes of the discussion—provide to the relevant employees:
    - (i) all relevant information about the change, including the nature of the change; and
    - (ii) information about what the employer reasonably believes will be the effects of the change on the employees; and
    - (iii) information about any other matters that the employer reasonably believes are likely to affect the employees; and
  - (c) invite the relevant employees to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities).
- (14) However, the employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employees.

- (15) The employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the change by the relevant employees.
- (16) In this term:

*relevant employees* means the employees who may be affected by a change referred to in subclause (1).

Note - the model consultation term is taken to be a term of this agreement and can be found at the end of the agreement.



# ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section 1.	Abo	ut This Agreement	7
	1.1.	Title and Operation	7
	1.2.	Application of this Agreement	7
	1.3.	Term of Agreement	
	1.4.	The Next Agreement	7
	1.5.	No Further Claims	8
Section 2.	Gen	eral Information	9
	2.1.	Definitions	
	2.2.	Commitment, Empowerment and Focus On Outcomes	
	2.3.	Anti Discrimination and Harassment	
	2.4.	Code of Conduct	
	2.5.	Confidentiality	
	2.6.	Conflict of Interest	
	2.7.	Union Recognition	
	2.8.	Union Workplace Representatives	
Section 3.		ployment Conditions	
	3.1.	Confirmation of Employment	
	3.2.	Employment Types	
	0.2.	3.2.1. Full-Time	
		3.2.2. Part-Time	
		3.2.3. Fixed Term Employment	
		3.2.4. Casual Employment Contracts	
		3.2.5. Term of Employment	
		3.2.6. Employees to Work Within Full Range of Skills	
		3.2.7. Supplementary Resources	14
	3.3.	Flexibility Arrangements	
	3.4.	Probation	15
	3.5.	Hours of Work	15
		3.5.1. Normal Hours - Day Workers	15
		3.5.2. Irregular Afternoon Work	15
	3.6.	Overtime - Day Workers	15
		3.6.1. General	15
		3.6.2. Overtime - Continuous With Ordinary Hours	17
		3.6.3. Overtime - Not Continuous With Ordinary Hours	17
		3.6.4. Overtime - Part-Time	
		3.6.5. Standing By	
		3.6.6. Travelling Time	
	3.7.	Meal Break	
		3.7.1. Meal Break – Ordinary Work	
		3.7.2. Other Breaks – Ordinary Work	
		3.7.3. Meal Break – Overtime	

		3.7.4. Other Breaks – Overtime	18
Section 4.	Recr	uitment and Classification of Positions	. 19
	4.1.	Recruitment Process	. 19
	4.2.	Classification Process	. 19
		4.2.1. New Positions	19
		4.2.2. Classification Review of Existing Roles	19
	4.3.	Advertising New or Vacant Positions	. 20
	4.4.	Qualifications	. 20
		4.4.1. Associate Diploma or Equivalent	20
		4.4.2. Engineering Degree	21
	4.5.	Graduate Appointments	21
Section 5.	Sala	ry and Benefits	. 22
	5.1.	Salary	22
		5.1.1. Rates of Pay	
		5.1.2. Principles Governing Remuneration	
		5.1.3. Salaries	23
		5.1.4. Salary Sacrifice	24
		5.1.5. Annualised Pay	24
		5.1.6. Payment of salary	25
		5.1.7. Payroll Deductions	25
		5.1.8. Public Holidays	25
		5.1.9. Superannuation	25
		5.1.10. Absorption of Allowances	26
	5.2.	Benefits	27
		5.2.1. Employee Development	27
		5.2.2. Employee Facilities	
		5.2.3. Group Journey Insurance	
		5.2.4. Safety, Clothing, Equipment and Tools	
		5.2.5. Travel Outside of Ordinary Hours	
		5.2.6. Temporary Change of Work Location	
_		5.2.7. Electrical Worker Registration Fee Reimbursement	
Section 6.	Wor	king Effectively	30
	6.1.	DISCIPLINARY ACTION	
		6.1.1. Disciplinary Action - Stages	
		6.1.2. Alternative to Dismissal	
		6.1.3. Disciplinary Action - Dismissal without Notice	
Section 7.	Leav	/e	32
	7.1.	Annual Leave	32
		7.1.1. Annual Leave Entitlement	32
		7.1.2. Annual Leave Accrual	32
		7.1.3. Taking Annual Leave	
		7.1.4. Annual Leave in Advance	
		7.1.5. Payment	
		7.1.6. Sickness While on Annual Leave	33

		7.1.7. Cash Out of Annual Leave	33
	7.2.	Personal/Carer's Leave and Compassionate Leave	33
		7.2.1. Entitlement	33
		7.2.2. Accrual	33
		7.2.3. Documentation	34
		7.2.4. Compassionate Leave	34
	7.3.	Long Service Leave	34
		7.3.1. Entitlement	34
		7.3.2. Payment	34
		7.3.3. Taking of Long Service Leave - Options	34
		7.3.4. Employment While on Long Service Leave	35
		7.3.5. Payment on Termination – Long Service Leave	
		7.3.6. Sickness While on Long Service Leave	
	7.4.	Community Service Leave	35
	7.5.	Emergency Leave	. 35
	7.6.	Parental Leave	35
		7.6.1. General	36
		7.6.2. Entitlement	36
		7.6.3. Paid Parental Leave	36
		7.6.4. Documentation	37
		7.6.5. Return to Work	37
	7.7.	Christmas Leave	. 37
	7.8.	Volunteering Leave	. 37
	7.9.	Trade Union Training Leave	38
	7.10.	Other Leave	38
Section 8.	Shift	Work, Transmission System Operators (TSO)	. 39
	8.1.	General	. 39
	8.2.	Definitions	. 39
	8.3.	Shift Allowances	
		8.3.1. Standard Shift Allowances	
		8.3.2. Averaging of Shift Allowances	
	8.4.	Pay Equalisation	
	8.5.	Ordinary Hours of Work	
	8.6.	Overtime	
		8.6.1. General	
		8.6.2. Non-continuous Shift Workers	
		8.6.3. Continuous Shift Workers	
	8.7.	Rosters	
		8.7.1. Rosters	
		8.7.2. Employees Swapping Shifts between Themselves	
	8.8.	Meal and Other Breaks	
		8.8.1. Non-continuous Shift	
		8.8.2. Continuous Shift	
			254 <b>1</b> 4

	8.9.	Annual Leave – Shift Worker	. 42
		8.9.1. Entitlement	42
		8.9.2. Annual Leave Accrual	43
		8.9.3. Taking Annual Leave	43
		8.9.4. Annual Leave in Advance	. 43
		8.9.5. Payment for Annual Leave	43
		8.9.6. Sickness While on Annual Leave	. 43
		8.9.7. Cash Out of Annual Leave	43
	8.10.	Long Service Leave	. 44
		8.10.1. Entitlement	44
άδ.		8.10.2. Payment for Long Service Leave	. 44
	8.11.	Minimum Break	. 44
	8.12.	Shift Relief	45
	8.13.	Daylight Saving	. 45
Section 9.	Term	ination, Separation and Redundancy	. 46
	9.1	Termination of Employment	. 46
		9.1.1. Notice Requirements	
		9.1.2. Payment of Entitlements on Termination	46
		9.1.3. Job Search Entitlement	46
		9.1.4. Death While Employed	46
	9.2.	Abandonment of Employment	. 46
	9.3.	Redundancy	. 46
		9.3.1. Definition	46
		9.3.2. Application	47
		9.3.3. Objective	47
		9.3.4. Relationship to the NES	47
		9.3.5. Notice	47
		9.3.6. Redundancy Entitlements	47
		9.3.7. Outplacement Services	47
		9.3.8. Transfer to Lower Paid Duties	48
		9.3.9. Employee Leaving During Notice Period	48
		9.3,10. Job Search Entitlement	48
	9.4.	Redeployment and Salary Maintenance	. 48
		9.4.1. Redeployment	48
		9.4.2. Salary Maintenance	49
	9.5.	Rewrite Electricity Corporation (Restructuring and Disposal) Act 1999	. 49
Section 10.	Cons	sultation and Dispute Resolution	. 50
	10.1.	Consultation Regarding Major Workplace Change	. 50
		10.1.1. ElectraNet to Discuss Change	
	10.2.	Dispute Resolution Procedure	. 50
Appendix 1	Def	initions	. 52
		sition Classification/Pay Structure	
		owances	

# SECTION 1. ABOUT THIS AGREEMENT

#### 1.1. TITLE AND OPERATION

This agreement is the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016 (this "Agreement").

#### **1.2.** APPLICATION OF THIS AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made pursuant to Chapter 2, Part 2-4 of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (the Act) and shall be binding upon ElectraNet Pty Limited (hereinafter referred to as 'ElectraNet'), and:

- Employees whose duties are classified within the eight-grade structure of this Agreement;
- the Australian Services Union;
- Professionals Australia; and
- the Electrical, Energy and Services Division of the Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Energy, Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union of Australia.

Nothing in this Agreement prevents ElectraNet from offering and entering into common law employment agreements/contracts with individual Employees where the Total Employment Cost (TEC) plus any bonus paid exceeds the total amount comprising:

- pay rate; plus
- allowances/loadings as applicable; plus
- annual leave loading to which the Employee is entitled under this Agreement; plus
- superannuation guarantee levy; plus
- any bonus that would have been paid had the Employee's employment contract been determined solely by this Agreement.

In such circumstances, clauses in this Agreement related to:

- Classifications and Remuneration, specifically:
  - Section 4 (excluding clause 4.1 Recruitment Process),
  - Section 5 (excluding clauses 5.1.8 Public Holidays, 5.1.9 Superannuation, 5.2.1 Employee Development and 5.2.2 Employee Facilities) and
  - Appendix 2;
- Ordinary hours of work and Overtime (Specifically, clauses 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7);
- and
- Penalties and Allowances (Appendix 3)

cease to apply to the employment of the Employee to the extent that they oblige ElectraNet to make additional payments over and above the TEC payment.

#### 1.3. TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall come into effect seven (7) days after it is approved by the Fair Work Commission in accordance with section 54(1)(a) of the Act and shall remain in force until 30 June 2018.

#### 1.4. THE NEXT AGREEMENT

The parties shall commit to commence negotiations to renew this Agreement, not later than 31 March 2018, with a view to finalising its replacement by 30 June 2018.

#### 1.5. NO FURTHER CLAIMS

The parties undertake not to pursue any further claims in relation to terms and conditions of employment for the life of this Agreement except where consistent with nationally determined decisions or principles in accordance with the Act.

#### 2.1. DEFINITIONS

Refer to Appendix 1.

#### 2.2. COMMITMENT, EMPOWERMENT AND FOCUS ON OUTCOMES

ElectraNet and its Employees commit to working as one team to achieve our vision, objectives and preferred way of working together.

ElectraNet commits to establishing clear business direction and defining required outcomes, ensuring these are discussed with Employees and providing support to empower Employees to deliver the required outcomes.

During the life of this Agreement, ElectraNet and its Employees commit to deliver significant improvement in the efficient and effective delivery of results and required outcomes by identifying and implementing programs for improvement such as:

- improved leadership and technical skills in articulating work requirements and performance standards and providing feedback, support and recognition for achievement;
- continuing the development of an empowerment culture where individuals take responsibility for the achievement of agreed outcomes;
- establishment and successful implementation of work, document and knowledge management systems;
- building greater commitment and work satisfaction amongst staff through high levels of achievement;
- efficient administration of working hours that provides flexibility in working arrangements and supports an outcome-focused, professional workforce and organisation.

#### 2.3. ANTI DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT

It is the intention of the parties to this Agreement to achieve the principal objective in section 3(e) of the Act through respecting and valuing the diversity of the workforce by helping to prevent and eliminate discrimination and harassment on the basis of race, colour, sex, sexual preference, age, physical or mental disability, marital status, family responsibilities, pregnancy, religion, political opinion, natural extraction or social origin.

Accordingly, in fulfilling their obligations under clause 10.2 Dispute Resolution Procedure, the parties must make every endeavour to ensure that neither the Agreement provisions nor their operation are directly or indirectly discriminatory in their effects.

Nothing in this clause is taken to affect:

- any different treatment (or treatment having different effects) which is specifically exempted under the Commonwealth anti-discrimination legislation;
- junior rates of pay;
- an Employee, ElectraNet or registered association, pursuing matters of discrimination in any State or federal jurisdiction, including by application to the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission;
- a matter referred to in this clause from being a reason for terminating employment if the reason is based on the inherent requirements of a particular position.

In considering appointments, ElectraNet operates in accordance with clause 4.1 of this Agreement. Appointments are based on merit and give consideration to the specified selection criteria of the position. The decision of ElectraNet is final.

#### 2.4. CODE OF CONDUCT

All Employees will have a copy of the ElectraNet Code of Conduct (the Code) made available to them, and will abide by the requirements contained in the Code.

#### 2.5. CONFIDENTIALITY

ElectraNet's requirements in relation to confidentiality will not extend beyond those normally required of Employees by the law. This provision is not intended to inhibit proper communication between ElectraNet Employees and their Unions on Employee relations issues.

At all times (including after leaving ElectraNet employment), Employees will observe confidentiality of information relating to ElectraNet's business. Confidential information must not be disclosed except in the proper performance of the Employee's duties or in accordance with the instruction or authority of ElectraNet. Employees will take all reasonable steps as advised by ElectraNet to ensure such information is kept confidential.

"Confidential information" means all information, knowledge, trade secrets, processes or data concerning or relating to the business of ElectraNet, customers and ElectraNet personnel of which an Employee may become aware in the course of their employment.

"Confidential information" does not include information that is or has become public knowledge through no act or failure by the Employee or which the Employee can show was not acquired directly or indirectly from ElectraNet.

#### 2.6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Prior to engaging in any personal activity, which could amount to a conflict of interest with ElectraNet's business, the Employee is to inform ElectraNet.

Where circumstances change in respect of any conflict of interest, the Employee is to inform ElectraNet immediately on the occurrence of any such change or as soon as possible.

#### 2.7. UNION RECOGNITION

On notifying ElectraNet's representative, an authorised permit holder of a Union that is covered by this Agreement shall be granted right of entry in accordance with the requirements of the Act to attend to matters pertaining to the conditions of employment covered by this Agreement, the Award (to the extent that it applies), and the Act.

#### 2.8. UNION WORKPLACE REPRESENTATIVES

On notification to ElectraNet by a Union covered by this Agreement, an Employee appointed as a Union Workplace Representative in the work location in which the Employee is employed, will be recognised as the accredited representative of the Union and will not be discriminated against in their employment.

The Union Workplace Representative is allowed the necessary paid time during working hours to consult with ElectraNet on matters affecting Employees whom the Union Workplace Representative represents. ElectraNet will provide:

- a) reasonable access in paid time to Employees whom the Union Workplace Representative does and can represent;
- reasonable access in paid time to ElectraNet's facilities and equipment (e.g. telephone, fax, post, photocopier, computer, e-mail etc.) for the purpose of performing their function as Union Workplace Representatives; and
- c) a notice board of reasonable dimensions in a prominent position where Union information notices relating to the application of the Agreement, Awards and any other matters pertaining to the ElectraNet/Employee relationship may be displayed.

Subject to prior notification where practical, the Union Workplace Representative will be allowed a reasonable period of time during working hours to meet on legitimate Union business with any accredited Union Official of a Union to which the Union Workplace Representative belongs.

## SECTION 3. EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS

#### 3.1. CONFIRMATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Before employment begins, ElectraNet will advise in writing the Employee's classification, employment category (i.e. full-time, part-time, casual or fixed term) and rate of pay under this Agreement. The Employee is to acknowledge this advice in writing before the employment relationship commences.

ElectraNet will confirm any change in writing and the Employee is to acknowledge their receipt and acceptance in writing where there is:

- a) any agreed change to the category of employment; or
- b) an agreed temporary change to the Employee's classification or rate of pay for a period in excess of two (2) weeks.

#### 3.2. EMPLOYMENT TYPES

#### 3.2.1. Full-Time

A full-time Employee works the ordinary hours prescribed in clauses 3.5.1 or 8.5 of this Agreement.

#### 3.2.2. Part-Time

General

- a) A part-time Employee works to an agreed pattern of attendance, which is less than full-time hours over a four (4) week cycle.
- b) Prior to commencing part-time employment, the Employee and their Manager must agree the Employee's working hours including start and finish times for each day.
- c) A part-time Employee will have reasonably predictable hours of work.
- d) Part-time Employees will receive, on a pro rata basis, equivalent pay and conditions to full-time Employees in the same classification.
- e) Part-time Employees will receive paid time off on public holidays falling on their rostered work days for the period rostered to be worked.
- f) Overtime is paid in accordance with clause 3.6.4.

#### Converting from Full-time to Part-time Hours

Employees will not be required to convert their full-time position to part-time or vice versa. However an Employee may initiate a proposal for a full-time position to be converted to part-time or a parttime position to revert to full-time.

Part-time arrangements will only be entered into by agreement and will be recorded in a letter signed by the Employee and ElectraNet. Where the part-time arrangement is for a fixed term and the Employee had been in full-time employment immediately before entering into the part-time arrangement the letter must specify the end date. Upon reaching the end date, the part-time arrangement will automatically revert to full-time status unless otherwise agreed.

Any arrangement entered into can only be altered by agreement between ElectraNet and the Employee concerned.

A part-time position may be proposed by ElectraNet only when:

- a) converting a vacant full-time position to part-time; or
- b) introducing a new or additional position.
- c) Otherwise, as required by law.

#### 3.2.3. Fixed Term Employment

#### General

- a) An externally recruited Employee may be engaged full-time or part-time for a fixed term.
- b) An existing Employee is not precluded by this provision from seeking a fixed term arrangement.
- c) This provision will not be used by ElectraNet to convert existing full-time or part-time Employees to fixed term employment.

#### Use of Fixed Term Contracts

ElectraNet will only initiate fixed term employment to supplement the existing workforce.

An offer of fixed term employment will be in writing and will specify a term of employment or a term linked to the completion of a particular task or project to be performed by the Employee.

The use of fixed term employment will be limited to the following circumstances:

- a) to cover periods of temporary absence; or
- b) to provide additional support, specialist skills and/or services to meet a specific business need; or
- c) to work on a defined project or projects.

#### Terms and Conditions of Fixed Term Contracts

A person who is engaged on a fixed term contract under this Agreement:

- a) is subject to the conditions of employment applying under this Agreement; and
- b) is subject to other ElectraNet terms and conditions applying from time to time including those set out in the letter of offer.

#### 3.2.4. Casual Employment Contracts

#### General

- a) A casual Employee is engaged by the hour and paid an hourly rate based on the appropriate pay rate in Appendix 2 to this Agreement plus a loading of 25% that makes up for the nature of casual employment.
- b) Casual loading is paid instead of annual leave, paid personal/carer's leave, public holidays not worked, notice of termination, redundancy benefits and the other attributes of full-time or part-time employment.
- c) A casual Employee is otherwise subject to all other terms and conditions under this Agreement.
- d) The minimum pay point for a casual adult Employee will be as stated in Appendix 2 Grade 1 - Step 1 (at age 21 and beyond).
- e) Overtime is paid in accordance with clause 3.6.1.

#### **Use of Casuals**

- a) A casual Employee is paid a minimum of four (4) hours for each agreed engagement.
- b) ElectraNet will advise local Employees whenever casual employment is to be used. Where there is to be a change to current practice the parties to this Agreement are to consult before casuals are engaged.

#### 3.2.5. Term of Employment

The term of employment is outlined in the Employee's Employment Agreement.

#### 3.2.6. Employees to Work Within Full Range of Skills

Employees will:

- a) exercise the full extent of their skill and competency as required by ElectraNet and will not prevent other Employees from working in a like manner;
- b) undertake a full range of tasks up to the level of standard of the training provided as required by the prescribed criteria; and
- c) perform a wide range of duties within their training and competence including work which is incidental or peripheral to their main tasks or functions (subject to training, competency and health and safety requirements); provided that Employees will not be called upon to perform excessively or predominantly duties or functions below the levels of their main job roles.

#### 3.2.7. Supplementary Resources

ElectraNet uses supplementary staffing resources when there is a need to supplement the workforce during periods of high workload, projects, leave, training and urgent/emergency situations when a particular skill or additional labour is required but not available within ElectraNet.

In accordance with Section 10 of this Agreement, ElectraNet undertakes to consult with Employees and any other person or organisation whom the Employees choose to represent them should ElectraNet identify a need for significant change in the use of supplementary staffing resources.

#### 3.3. FLEXIBILITY ARRANGEMENTS

ElectraNet and an Employee covered by this Enterprise Agreement may agree to make an individual flexibility arrangement to vary the effect of terms of the Agreement if:

- a) the arrangement deals with one (1) or more of the following matters:
  - i. arrangements about when work is performed;
  - ii. overtime rates;
  - iii. penalty rates;
  - iv. allowances;
  - v. leave loading; and
- b) the arrangement meets the genuine needs of ElectraNet and the Employee in relation to one
   (1) or more of the matters mentioned in paragraph (a); and
- c) the arrangement is genuinely agreed to by ElectraNet and the Employee.

ElectraNet must ensure that the terms of the individual flexibility arrangement:

- a) are about permitted matters under section 172 of the Act; and
- b) are not unlawful terms under section 194 of the Act; and
- c) result in the Employee being better off overall than the Employee would be if no arrangement was made.

ElectraNet must ensure that the individual flexibility arrangement:

- a) is in writing; and
- b) includes the name of ElectraNet and the Employee; and
- c) is signed by ElectraNet and the Employee and if the Employee is under 18 years of age, signed by a parent or guardian of the Employee; and
- d) includes details of:
  - i. the terms of the Enterprise Agreement that will be varied by the arrangement; and
  - ii. how the arrangement will vary the effect of the terms; and

- iii. how the Employee will be better off overall in relation to the terms and conditions of his or her employment as a result of the arrangement; and
- e) states the day on which the arrangement commences.

ElectraNet must give the Employee a copy of the individual flexibility arrangement within 14 days after it is agreed to.

ElectraNet or the Employee may terminate the individual flexibility arrangement:

- a) by giving 28 days written notice to the other party to the arrangement; or
- b) if ElectraNet and the Employee agree in writing at any time.

#### 3.4. **PROBATION**

New Employees may be employed subject to a probationary period of up to three (3) months. During this period, ElectraNet or the Employee can withdraw from the contract of employment by giving one (1) months' notice or by the payment or forfeiture of one (1) month's pay.

The probationary period may be extended once only for up to a further three (3) months where the reason for the extension has been discussed between ElectraNet and the Employee and confirmed in writing.

#### 3.5. HOURS OF WORK

#### 3.5.1. Normal Hours - Day Workers

- a) The ordinary hours of work are an average of 37.5 hours per week exclusive of meal breaks worked in the span between 7.00 a.m. 7.00 p.m. Monday to Friday inclusive.
- b) Within the above span, the start and finish times and the length of the working day are by agreement between Employees and ElectraNet.
- c) The parties acknowledge the existence of a number of flexible work arrangements which are in operation throughout ElectraNet including flexitime.

#### 3.5.2. Irregular Afternoon Work

- a) Irregular afternoon work occurs where ElectraNet requires short term work on afternoons and evenings by a day worker and the Employee agrees to work the arrangement proposed. Such work is not worked to a roster as is the case with shift work (Section 8).
- b) Irregular afternoon working will be undertaken in daily periods averaging 7.5 hours each which finish after 6.00 p.m. and at/or before midnight Monday to Friday inclusive.
- c) An Employee who transfers from normal day work to irregular afternoon working will be paid for each period of afternoon working, at the rate of time and a half (1.5x) of the Employee's ordinary rate of pay for the first three (3) hours and double time (2x) the ordinary rate for the remainder.
- d) When an Employee is transferred by ElectraNet from afternoon work back to normal day work, the Employee will be entitled to an off-duty period of 10 consecutive hours. The off-duty period will be granted by ElectraNet without loss of pay for any normal day work hours falling within such absence.

#### 3.6. Overtime - Day Workers

#### 3.6.1. General

#### Requirement and Approval

- a) ElectraNet can require an Employee to work reasonable overtime.
- b) Approved overtime is payable when an Employee works outside standard working hours.

For Employees working under flexitime arrangements, overtime:

- May be paid where an Employee has worked more than 7.5 hours on a normal working day (irrespective of their finishing time), and therefore may be eligible for overtime.
- Will be paid when directed to work before the earliest starting time and/or after the latest finishing time (for example, before 7.00 a.m. and after 7.00 p.m.).
- Overtime must be authorised and approved by an ElectraNet officer with the appropriate delegated authority.

#### Overtime Eligible Employees

- a) All Employees classified in grades up to and including Grade 6 in Appendix 2 will be eligible to be paid for approved overtime.
- b) This overtime limit does not apply to Shift Workers in positions classified up to and including Grade 7 in Appendix 2.
- c) Employees eligible to be paid overtime will not be requested to work unpaid overtime.

#### Exempt Employees – compensation for excessive overtime

An Employee classified in Grade 7 in Appendix 2 or above may seek compensation for excessive overtime worked. ElectraNet may determine to make a payment at the ordinary rate of pay or provide time off in lieu in these circumstances.

#### Calculation of Payment - Employees eligible for overtime

- a) Subject to obtaining approval to work overtime in accordance with clause 3.6.1 an eligible Employee (in accordance with clause 3.6.1) will be paid overtime for the actual time worked.
- b) Where overtime is not continuous with other work, the minimum hours specified in the relevant provisions apply (refer clause 3.6.3).
- c) Where the Employee is entitled to be paid overtime, in determining the penalty to be applied for overtime, each day's work stands alone. This does not apply where a continuous period of overtime extends beyond midnight, in which case the overtime will be taken to have been worked on the day on which it began.

In these circumstances, where the penalty rate for the second day is higher, the greater penalty will apply to that portion of the overtime falling on the second day.

#### Time off in lieu of overtime worked on a Public Holiday

Where a day worker is required to work on a Public Holiday, time off in lieu at a mutually convenient time within 12 months is available if an Employee elects and ElectraNet agrees.

In this event the Employee's entitlement (inclusive of overtime penalties) will be reduced by the value of the ordinary hours taken off.

#### Minimum Break

a) Employees other than those on availability duty are entitled to a minimum of 10 consecutive hours off duty between completion of ordinary work on one day and the beginning of ordinary work on the next day (substitute eight (8) hours for Employees on availability duty).

Provided that an Employee not engaged on continuous work who works on a Sunday or Public Holiday, where the work continues into the next ordinary day and the period of work is not less than the minimum prescribed by clause 3.6.3 will, on being released from duty, be entitled to the appropriate minimum rest periods set out above.

- b) After completing overtime, an Employee is either to be released from duty on normal pay for such time as the Employee has had 10 or eight (8) hours off duty or the Employee is to be paid at double the ordinary rate (2x) until a 10 or eight (8) hour break can be taken (as applicable).
- c) Provided that if the time worked on any separate occasion when an Employee is called back to work is less than the specified minimum hours, it is not to be considered when deciding whether the Employee has had 10 or eight (8) hours rest (as applicable).

d) If in the opinion of the Manager there may be a safety risk to the Employee or any other Employee if the Employee resumed work at the normal starting time, the Manager may release the Employee without loss of pay for a period to be decided by the Manager.

#### Transport of Employees

When an Employee is required to work outside their normal hours and the work starts or finishes at a time when reasonable means of transport is not available, ElectraNet will provide the Employee with suitable transport to or from their residence.

#### 3.6.2. Overtime - Continuous With Ordinary Hours

When overtime worked is continuous with ordinary hours of work, it is paid at the rates of:

- a) time and a half (1.5x) of the Employee's ordinary rate of pay for the first two (2) hours of overtime worked on any day; and
- b) double time (2x) of the Employee's ordinary rate of pay for time worked after the first two (2) hours (refer to clause 3.6.2.(a)); and
- c) double time and a half (2.5x) of the Employee's ordinary rate of pay for time worked on a Public Holiday.

#### 3.6.3. Overtime - Not Continuous With Ordinary Hours

- a) Overtime not continuous with ordinary hours occurs where an Employee, having left the workplace, is required by ElectraNet to return to work.
- b) An Employee who has been called out to attend to an unforeseen occurrence will not be required to work for the full minimum hours period where the work is completed in a shorter time except in the case of further unforeseen circumstances within the minimum period. A new minimum hours period is applicable once the Employee has left the job.
- c) Where the Employee has been previously instructed to attend work on overtime, the Employee may be required to work the full minimum hours period.

Period	Availability (Minimum Hours)	Non Availability (Minimum Hours)	Penalty	
Monday to Friday	2	4	1.5x ordinary rate for the first two (2) hours 2x ordinary rate thereafter	
Saturday	3	4	1.5x ordinary rate the first two (2) hours; 2x ordinary rate thereafter	
Sunday	3	3	2x ordinary rate; and if continuing uninterrupted beyond the Sunday (other than into a holiday) until the work stops	
Public Holiday	3	3	2.5x ordinary rate; and if continuing uninterrupted beyond the holiday until the work stops	

d) The following table sets out the minimum hours periods and total amounts applicable:

#### 3.6.4. Overtime - Part-Time

Part-time Employees are entitled to payment for overtime when:

- a) required to work in excess of their agreed hours that day; and
- b) the work is performed during times or under conditions that would normally attract penalty rates for the full time Employees within their work group.

#### 3.6.5. Standing By

Employees may be requested by an authorising officer to be on call or "stand by" to work after ordinary hours.

Standing by time at ordinary rates is paid from the time from which the Employee is told to be ready until released or actual work commences. In the event that actual work commences penalty rates apply.

#### 3.6.6. Travelling Time

Refer to clause 5.2.5.

#### 3.7. MEAL BREAK

#### 3.7.1. Meal Break – Ordinary Work

- a) A meal break is an unpaid period of 30 minutes, unless otherwise arranged.
- b) An Employee will not be required to work more than five (5) hours without a meal break.
- c) Any work done at ElectraNet's instruction resulting in an Employee working in excess of five (5) continuous hours without a meal break will be paid (from the end of the fifth hour) at the rate of time and a half (1.5x) of the Employee's ordinary rate of pay until a meal break is taken or work ceases.

#### 3.7.2. Other Breaks – Ordinary Work

Employees are entitled to a paid break of at least 10 and up to 20 minutes in the morning.

#### 3.7.3. Meal Break – Overtime

An Employee may elect to take an unpaid break for a meal where the paid break does not coincide with the Employee's normal meal time.

#### 3.7.4. Other Breaks – Overtime

An Employee is entitled to a paid break after every four (4) continuous hours of overtime where the Employee is to continue work after the break.

Each break:

- is 20 minutes;
- commences four (4) hours after the end of the previous break; and
- is paid at the overtime rate.

## SECTION 4. RECRUITMENT AND CLASSIFICATION OF POSITIONS

#### 4.1. **RECRUITMENT PROCESS**

Preference for appointment to vacant positions will be given to existing ElectraNet Employees should they, in ElectraNet's view, have the potential to fulfil all of the business requirements of relevant vacant positions. When deciding appointments to vacant positions ElectraNet will consider the relative merits of current Employees and external applicants but its decision will ultimately be made in the best interests of ElectraNet.

#### 4.2. CLASSIFICATION PROCESS

#### 4.2.1. New Positions

- a) The classification level for new or restructured positions will be determined by the process outlined below.
- b) A position may be advertised based on the ElectraNet determined classification level.
- c) Should the Employee-nominated Job Evaluation (JE) facilitator not agree with the JE classification result, the procedure in clause 4.2.2 (e) below will be adopted with the Employee-nominated JE facilitator taking the role of the incumbent for the purpose of resolving the matter.

#### 4.2.2. Classification Review of Existing Roles

- a) The review of a position's classification level may occur in respect of a position with an incumbent Employee, should there be a significant change in job role or an arguable case for review based on changes in the level of responsibilities, or expertise, judgement or accountability required or comparison with similar positions.
- b) Employees would not normally be denied access to this process.
- c) ElectraNet and the incumbent Employee will review the appropriateness and accuracy of the job description and where possible reach agreement.
- d) A JE interview will be conducted by a management nominated JE facilitator and an Employee nominated JE facilitator (see Note 1) with the incumbent and the Manager and guided by the Manager endorsed Position Description.
- e) Following the JE interview the management nominated JE facilitator and the Employee nominated JE facilitator will review the preliminary JE grade result with the incumbent and Manager. If agreement is not reached with the incumbent and Manager, the management nominated JE facilitator and an Employee nominated JE facilitator review inputs and clarify any required points with the incumbent and their Manager.
- f) If agreement is reached with the Manager and incumbent then the JE result is processed and signed off by the Chief Executive (CE) or their delegate.
- g) If agreement is not reached with the Manager and/or incumbent then the management and Employee nominated JE facilitators review JE inputs and JE grade result with an agreed independent expert (See Note 3). The independent expert makes a recommendation and provides supporting advice to the CE.
- h) The JE recommendation is reviewed by the CE and signed off.
- i) The Manager and incumbent are then advised of the JE grade result.
- j) This process does not prejudice the rights of the parties to address any disputed matter in accordance with Step 4 of the Disputes Resolution Procedure described in Section 10 headed 'Consultation and Dispute Resolution '.

Note 1: A panel of nominated JE facilitators is to be established by agreement between Employees, any person or organisation whom the Employees choose to represent them, and ElectraNet and trained in the JE process with regular involvement to maintain skill level.

Note 2: If a management or incumbent disagree they should outline the basis on which they disagree in terms of:

- correctness of questionnaire responses; and/or
- linkages to the Manager endorsed Position Description; and/or
- comparison with similar internal positions; and/or
- the JE system does not adequately reflect some aspect(s) of the Job Description for the position in the questionnaire.

Note 3: The independent expert is a person agreed between Employees, any person or organisation whom the Employees choose to represent them, and ElectraNet and trained in the agreed JE process.

#### 4.3. ADVERTISING NEW OR VACANT POSITIONS

ElectraNet approves the filling of all new or vacant position(s) within the Appendix 2 range. Where the position(s) have been approved, the position(s) will be classified through the agreed clause 4.2 Classification Process, TEC evaluated (at ElectraNet's option) and advertised using the following process.

ElectraNet will determine position(s) grades using the agreed classification process (clause 4.2). Furthermore, a market-based review may be undertaken at ElectraNet's option to determine the Total Employment Cost (TEC) remuneration rate for the position(s) subject to the provisions of clause 1.2 of this Agreement.

When the classification and the TEC rate (if applicable) have been determined, ElectraNet will advertise the position(s) internally and if determined necessary, externally at the same time.

Successful candidate(s) will be selected on the basis of merit (the employment status will not be a consideration in the selection process). Depending on whether the successful candidate is an internal or external appointee, the following arrangements will apply:

- a) If an ElectraNet Employee is successful in winning a position, the individual will be offered the position at the determined Appendix 2 classification while retaining their existing employment status/conditions.
- b) If an external candidate is successful in winning the position, then contract arrangements may be offered.

If a position becomes vacant as a result of an internal appointment, then the process for filling that original position will follow the above approach.

#### 4.4. QUALIFICATIONS

Qualifications required for any position classified in Appendix 2 to this Agreement will be specified in the job position description for that position. These qualifications may be essential or desirable requirements for the position.

In the event of failure by an Employee to produce to ElectraNet formal evidence of required qualifications, ElectraNet may deem that the Employee does not hold the qualifications required.

#### 4.4.1. Associate Diploma or Equivalent

An Employee will be classified at a minimum of Grade 3 of Appendix 2 where that Employee:

- has completed a relevant Associate Diploma or the equivalent level of accredited training issued by a recognised training body or any equivalent academic qualification acceptable to ElectraNet; and
- b) is required to perform design, drafting, planning or technical work requiring the exercise of judgment and skill at this level.

#### 4.4.2. Engineering Degree

An Employee will be classified at a minimum of Grade 3 of Appendix 2 where that Employee:

- a) is required to hold a four (4) year Engineering degree issued by a tertiary education institution acceptable to ElectraNet; and
- b) is required, as the major proportion of the position, to perform work requiring the exercise of judgment and skill as a professional engineer.

#### 4.5. GRADUATE APPOINTMENTS

ElectraNet may from time to time offer graduate positions to graduates with degrees requiring at least three (3) years full-time study.

On engagement a graduate Employee will be paid an entry rate not less than the following:

- in the case of a four year degree course Grade 1 Step 5 of Appendix 2;
- in the case of a three year degree course Grade 1 Step 2 of Appendix 2.

The term of appointment offered to a graduate may be for a fixed term having regard to the nature of the graduate employment.

Any graduate appointed during or on completion of the graduate development program into a position within ElectraNet will be classified and paid in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement.

#### 5.1. SALARY

#### 5.1.1. Rates of Pay

The rates of pay will be as set out in Appendix 2 to this Agreement. These rates of pay reflect all increases pursuant to ElectraNet's Enterprise Agreements.

Percentage increases applying to rates of pay and allowances in this Agreement will be calculated to the nearest cent.

#### 5.1.1.1. Rates of Pay on Appointment or Reclassification

#### External Appointee

In the case of an external appointee, ElectraNet will determine the classification of the position in accordance with the agreed classification process outlined in clause 4.2.

# Employee appointed to a position at a higher grade or whose position is reclassified to a higher grade

A current Employee who is appointed to a position at a higher grade or whose position is reclassified to a higher grade will be paid at the new grade and minimum pay step for the position.

The new rate will apply as follows:

- a) in the case of an appointment, from the date on which the Employee under direction from ElectraNet effectively assumes the duties of the new position.
- b) in the case of a reclassification, from the Saturday immediately following the date of reclassification; or from a date agreed by ElectraNet and the Employee (in the case of a consent reclassification); or from when the Classification Process (in the case of a disputed classification) may determine in line with the spirit and intent of such disputes being resolved within a 13 week period.

#### Employee applying for and appointed to a position classified at a lower grade

Where a current Employee applies for and is appointed to a position classified at a lower grade, the Employee's rate on appointment will be the maximum pay step of the grade for the position.

#### Junior Employees

An Employee aged under 21 years occupying a position classified in Grade 1 - Step 1 is paid the rates set out in Appendix 2 Table 3 as a minimum.

#### Work Experience Employees

An Employee engaged in work experience relevant to their academic training is paid the rates set out in Appendix 2 Table 3 as a minimum.

#### 5.1.2. Principles Governing Remuneration

#### 5.1.2.1. General

The classification of roles will be determined using an agreed classification process outlined in clause 4.2.

#### 5.1.2.2. Step Progression

#### Eligibility for Step Progression

Progression between the steps within a particular grade is dependent on the Employee's performance as is determined by the outcome of the Performance, Development and Review (PDR) rating. An Employee will be eligible for step progression if they achieve a:

- PDR rating higher than "achieves performance"; or
- PDR rating of "achieves performance" for two (2) consecutive years at the same classification level.

Employees will be eligible to be considered for step progression provided they have a minimum of 12 months service in their current classification.

Employees will be required to participate in the performance development process.

#### Preservation of Existing Rights of Progression

Employees who transferred into the classification structure included in Appendix 2, on 1 July 2005 have their existing rights of progression preserved in accordance with the following clause.

Should the maximum rate of the grade in Appendix 2 into which an Employee is transferred be less than the maximum rate of their pre-existing grade then progression to the nearest new pay step with a pay rate at or above the maximum rate of their pre-existing grade will be allowed for the Employee on a present occupant only basis, with the actual progression determined in accordance with the agreed Performance Management Process. This pay step will be treated as the top of the Employee's transfer grade.

#### 5.1.3. Salaries

#### 5.1.3.1. Salaries

The salaries for Employees covered by this Agreement are set out in the following Tables in Appendix 2:

- a) Table 2 Technical, Administrative, Professional/Managerial/Specialist and Operations Employees
- b) Table 3 Junior and Work Experience Students

#### 5.1.3.2. Salary Increases

This Agreement and the tables referred to in Appendix 2 will include the following salary increases to apply from the first full pay period commencing on or after:

Grade	1 January 2016	1 July 2016	1 July 2017	
1				
2	2%			
3		2.75%	2.5%	
4				
5	2.25%			
6				
7	201			
8	3%			

#### 5.1.3.3. Consumer Price Index (CPI) Safety Net

ElectraNet will apply an additional payment of up to 2% if the CPI (Adelaide – All Groups) over the nominal life of this Agreement (i.e. from the date of approval to 30 June 2018) is in excess of the total combined quantum increase identified in clause 5.1.3 'Salary Increases' of this Agreement.

The CPI for the life of this Agreement will be determined when the final ABS Quarter 2 results are available. If the CPI is higher than the combined quantum identified in clause 5.1.3, then a payment for the difference (up to 2%) will be made, commencing from the first pay period after the announcement of the CPI results.

#### 5.1.4. Salary Sacrifice

ElectraNet will provide a mechanism, which gives Employees the opportunity to salary sacrifice for additional voluntary superannuation contributions and/or member superannuation contributions into a fund nominated by the Employee (or in default of nominating, in the Electricity Industry Superannuation Scheme (EISS)) and/or a Novated Lease vehicle and/or for other payments made by Employees via payroll deduction, the salary sacrificing of which is tax effective and is approved by ElectraNet.

The decision to salary sacrifice for additional voluntary superannuation contributions and/or novated vehicle lease and/or other payments is at each Employee's discretion. ElectraNet will work with Employees to ensure the smooth administration of any agreed arrangements. The Employee will be required to pay any associated administrative costs to ElectraNet and/or an external provider for salary sacrificing for a Novated Vehicle lease and/or other regular payments.

Salary sacrifice arrangements entered into will:

- be effective only on the written request of the Employee based on the guidelines established and approved by ElectraNet;
- not reduce the Employee's hourly gross rate of pay for the purposes of agreement entitlements (including accrued entitlements and the application of penalty rates);
- not reduce or alter ElectraNet's superannuation payments which will still be based on gross pretax salary; and
- immediately be reviewed in the event of any change to any relevant act(s) or Australian Taxation Office rulings.

An Employee entering into such an arrangement may nominate to receive a salary below the minimum rate of pay for the grade or classification of the position. The extent of salary sacrifice will not exceed the level whereby minimum wage requirements are breached.

#### 5.1.5. Annualised Pay

ElectraNet and the Employees of a particular work area may agree that in the particular work area Employees' pay may be based on the principle of annualising an agreed work arrangement. The following criteria apply:

- a) The annual pay will be equalised over each pay month and will include, some of or all of, the elements of their rate of pay including hours worked, allowances and penalties.
- b) Any annualised agreement will be based upon the rates of pay and other provisions in this Agreement. No Employee entering into an annualised pay agreement will be financially disadvantaged against the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- c) The agreement will be in writing, and signed by ElectraNet and the Employee(s).

The annualised pay agreement applicable to Transmission System Operators is contained in Appendix 5.

#### 5.1.6. Payment of salary

ElectraNet will pay salaries direct to financial institution accounts acceptable to ElectraNet. It is the responsibility of the Employee to provide ElectraNet with details of suitable accounts into which their pay can be deposited.

#### 5.1.6.1. Pay Periods

Each pay period is one calendar month. It is the intention to have the pay available in Employees' accounts by the 15th day of the month.

#### 5.1.6.2. Records and Pay Advice Information

ElectraNet will comply with Part 3-6 Division 3 of the *Fair Work Regulations 2009* as amended from time to time in relation to records and pay advice information.

#### 5.1.7. Payroll Deductions

On receipt of a signed authorisation from an Employee, ElectraNet will deduct from the Employee's pay specified amounts in relation to any of the following:

- deductions to approved health funds;
- deductions for approved financial institutions;
- deductions of membership subscriptions of Unions; and
- deductions for any other purpose agreed between ElectraNet and its Employees.

Any amount deducted will be immediately transmitted to the respective destination. All deductions will be made in accordance with the requirements of the Act including: the deduction must be authorised in writing be principally for the benefit of the Employee must specify the amount of the deduction any variation of the deduction must be authorised in writing.

#### 5.1.8. Public Holidays

#### 5.1.8.1. Entitlement

- a) Public Holidays are provided for in the National Employment Standards (NES). This clause supplements the NES, to the extent of any inconsistency, the NES will apply.
- b) Where a rostered day off falls on a public holiday as prescribed in the NES, the next working day will be substituted or another day by written agreement.
- c) Employees not on continuous shift are entitled to time off without loss of pay on all Public Holidays as proclaimed in the relevant State or Territory on which day the Employee would normally have worked.
- d) No payment will be made for a holiday occurring during a period of approved leave without pay.
- e) Public Holidays occurring during a period of approved unpaid sick leave are paid.

#### 5.1.9. Superannuation

#### 5.1.9.1. Superannuation Legislation

- a) Superannuation legislation, including the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 (Cth), the Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992 (Cth), the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (Cth) and the Superannuation (Resolution of Complaints) Act 1993 (Cth), deals with the superannuation rights and obligations of ElectraNet and Employees. Under superannuation legislation individual Employees generally have the opportunity to choose their own superannuation fund. If an Employee does not choose a superannuation fund the default fund to be relied on by ElectraNet is the EISS (or otherwise, any superannuation fund nominated in the award covering the Employee is to apply).
- b) The rights and obligations in these clauses supplement those in superannuation legislation.

#### 5.1.9.2. Employer Contributions

ElectraNet must make such superannuation contributions to a superannuation fund for the benefit of an Employee as will avoid ElectraNet being required to pay the superannuation guarantee charge under superannuation legislation with respect to that Employee.

#### 5.1.9.3. Voluntary Employee Contributions

Subject to the governing rules of the relevant superannuation fund, an Employee may, in writing, authorise ElectraNet to pay on behalf of the Employee a specified amount from the post-taxation wages of the Employee into the same superannuation fund as ElectraNet makes the superannuation contributions provided for in clause 5.1.9.2.

An Employee may adjust the amount the Employee has authorised ElectraNet to pay from the wages of the Employee from the first of the month following the giving of three months' written notice to ElectraNet.

ElectraNet must pay the amount authorised under clauses 5.1.9.1 (a) or 5.1.9.1 (b) no later than 28 days after the end of the month in which the deduction authorised under clauses 5.1.9.1 (a) or 5.1.9.1 (b) was made.

#### 5.1.9.4. Superannuation Fund

Unless, to comply with superannuation legislation, ElectraNet is required to make the superannuation contributions provided for in clause 5.1.9.2 to another superannuation fund that is chosen by the Employee, the ElectraNet must make the superannuation contributions provided for in clause 5.1.9.2 and pay the amount authorised under clauses 5.1.9.1 (a) and 5.1.9.1 (b) to the EISS.

#### 5.1.10. Absorption of Allowances

With the implementation of the classification structure in Appendix 2, all allowances with the exception of:

- Duty Officer/Officer in Charge Availability
- First Aid
- Overnight Expense
- Motor Vehicle Allowance

were absorbed as part of the implementation of the new remuneration structure as from 2 July 2005 and no longer apply.

Certain Employees who transferred to the new classification structure included in Appendix 2 on 1 July 2005 are entitled to a loading as described below. In these cases, where the difference in annual pay rate between the Appendix 2 Grade and Step to which the employee was transferred and their Grade and Pay Point applying immediately prior to transfer (the pay increase on transfer) was less than the average total annual allowances paid in the eighteen month period to 31 December 2004 (the average annual allowances paid), an annual loading equal to the average annual allowances minus the pay increase on transfer was paid to the employee on a present occupant only basis for as long as they continue in their job role as at 1 July 2005 at the new grade established on transfer to the eight grade structure included in Appendix 2.

This loading will continue to apply as the employee progresses within the grade to which they were transferred (including progression covered by sub clause 5.1.2.2) and is to increase in accordance with Agreement increases.

After transfer, should a person move to a new position or be reclassified to a higher grade the loading will cease.

The Employee may choose to convert the loading to a lump sum payment, which will be calculated based on the net present value of the loading over a five (5) year period.

# 5.2. BENEFITS

#### 5.2.1. Employee Development

ElectraNet will develop and maintain training and development programs consistent with the current and future skill needs of the business whilst providing career opportunities for Employees.

ElectraNet will provide Employees with development opportunities to:

- ensure that Employees are appropriately skilled to meet its business objectives;
- assist with organisation development and succession planning where appropriate; and
- assist with Employee career development.

All development requirements will be approved by ElectraNet and shall be identified and implemented in line with business needs.

Professional development will incorporate the identification of training needs in conjunction with position incumbents.

The identification of training needs will take into consideration but not be limited to:

- core competencies required for an incumbent's required position;
- competency gaps recognised during selection processes; and
- management and/or technical competency gaps recognised during the performance assessment process.

Employees undergoing training will be paid:

- at their ordinary rate; or
- in a temporary situation, the agreed rate; or
- as per roster where the Employee is a Shift Worker.

# 5.2.2. Employee Facilities

#### 5.2.2.1. General

ElectraNet will provide as a minimum, the current level of amenities and facilities including:

- a) hot and cold showers where working conditions are such that an Employee needs a shower after work;
- b) suitable locker or clothes hanging facilities for those Employees who may be required to change their clothing in carrying out their duties.

# 5.2.3. Group Journey Insurance

ElectraNet will provide 'Group Journey Insurance' as identified by ElectraNet to Employees covered by the Agreement. ElectraNet may terminate the provision of 'Group Journey Insurance' at any time following consultation with the Unions should the cost of the provision increase pro rata for the size of the workforce by more than 50% paid for the renewal of insurances on 30 November 2004 and adjusted by CPI.

# 5.2.4. Safety, Clothing, Equipment and Tools

#### 5.2.4.1. General

a) ElectraNet is committed to ensuring the safety of Employees at all times. It complies with the Work Health and Safety Act 2012 (SA) and Regulations and will supply clothing and equipment required by the Employee to carry out duties in a safe manner.

- b) Any form of protective clothing required by ElectraNet to be worn or specified by the Work Health and Safety Act 2012 (SA) and Regulations will be supplied free of cost to the Employee.
- c) Employees are to wear the clothing and use equipment supplied. Disciplinary action may be taken where an Employee breaches the ElectraNet safety policy in regard to wear, and use of, protective clothing and equipment.
- d) Replacement will be made at appropriate intervals based on fair wear and tear.

#### 5.2.4.2. Case Hardened Lenses

ElectraNet will pay for an Employee to have prescription lenses case hardened when required.

#### 5.2.4.3. Damage to Clothing, Spectacles and Tools

- a) Compensation to the extent of the damage sustained will be made where, in the course of the Employee's duties, clothing, spectacles, hearing aids or tools are damaged or destroyed by fire or molten metal or through the use of corrosive substances.
- b) With tools, ElectraNet's liability is limited to such tools of trade as are ordinarily required for the performance of the Employee's duties.
- c) This provision does not apply when an Employee is entitled to Worker's Compensation in respect of the damage.

#### 5.2.4.4. Guarding of Machinery, etc. - Application of State Laws

ElectraNet will comply with all relevant requirements of State Acts and Regulations relating to the guarding of machinery and the installation and maintenance of dust extracting appliances.

#### 5.2.4.5. Protective Equipment - Welding

ElectraNet will provide a sufficient supply of the following equipment to each welder and assistant:

- suitable protective fire proof blankets;
- appropriate welding shields;
- appropriate protective goggles (with correct shading); and leather aprons, leather jackets, leather hoods, leather sleeves and leggings, coveralls of flame proof material and gauntlet gloves.

Where electric arc operators are working, screens that are suitable and sufficient for the protection of Employees from flash, will be provided by ElectraNet.

#### 5.2.4.6. Safety Gear - Live Work

Adequate safety gear (including insulating gloves, mats and/or shields where necessary) will be provided for any Employee required to work on live electrical equipment.

#### 5.2.4.7. Tool Storage - Away from Workshop

Where an Employee is required to use tools for the job, ElectraNet will provide free secure storage for tools on the job away from the workshop if the Employee is unable to arrange their own suitable free storage.

#### 5.2.4.8. Ventilation

While any work is being carried on in any confined or enclosed space in which:

- fumes, gases, dust or vapours which may be dangerous or injurious are liable to be present or to be generated in the corners of the work; or
- the atmosphere may otherwise become vitiated;

ElectraNet will install appropriate exhaust apparatus to ensure safe working conditions in any such confined or enclosed space.

### 5.2.5. Travel Outside of Ordinary Hours

a) Travelling time is payable to an Employee entitled to overtime when travelling as a passenger at ElectraNet's direction outside standard working hours.

For Employees working under flexitime arrangements, travelling time:

- may be paid where an Employee has worked more than 7.5 hours on a normal working day (irrespective of their finishing time), and therefore may be eligible for overtime.
- will be paid when directed to travel before the Earliest Starting Time and/or after the Latest Finishing Time (for example, before 7.00 a.m. and after 7.00 p.m.).
- b) Travelling time must be authorised and approved by an ElectraNet officer with authority to do so.
- c) Travelling time is paid at ordinary rates unless:
  - the Employee is authorised to work during the trip (including driving a motor vehicle) in which case the overtime provisions in clause 3.6 apply; or
  - the Employee travels between midnight to 6.00 a.m. on any week day or at any time on a Saturday, Sunday or Public Holiday, in which case payment is at the rate of one and a half times the Employee's ordinary rate.
- d) Subject to obtaining approval in accordance with clause 3.6.1 when travelling outside normal working hours the Employee will be paid for time spent travelling, excluding waiting time.
- e) The maximum travelling time which will be paid is 12 hours out of every 24 hours; or eight (8) hours when a sleeping berth is provided for night travel.

#### 5.2.6. Temporary Change of Work Location

- a) An Employee who on any day or from day to day is required to work at a job away from their accustomed work place, will at the direction of ElectraNet, present themselves for work at the usual starting time.
- b) ElectraNet will pay:
  - additional fares reasonably incurred; and
  - reasonable additional time taken to travel to and from the temporary work location i.e. in excess of the time normally spent in travelling to and from work.

# 5.2.7. Electrical Worker Registration Fee Reimbursement

ElectraNet will reimburse an Employee the Electrical Worker Registration fee where an Employee is required by ElectraNet to obtain or renew the registration during their employment with ElectraNet. Training and materials will be provided to the updated AS NZS 3000:2007 standard (as amended or replaced).

# 6.1. DISCIPLINARY ACTION

#### 6.1.1. Disciplinary Action - Stages

Before taking action under any of the following stages, the Employee's Manager is to establish that the problem exists by discussing it with the Employee concerned and any other parties involved.

At any stage in this process an Employee may request the presence of a representative of their choice to attend the interview.

Nothing in this provision will prevent ElectraNet from determining to bypass one or more stages where the behaviour is regarded as so serious as to warrant such a measure but does not justify instant dismissal.

#### Stage 1 - Informal Counselling

Informal counselling is conducted by the appropriate Manager who will discuss the issue with the Employee and identify any improvement in work performance or behaviour, which may be required.

A diary note of the interview is to be kept by the appropriate Manager who will indicate this to the Employee.

#### Stage 2 - Formal Counselling

A formal counselling is conducted by the appropriate Manager identifying the nature of the poor performance or behaviour and indicating that failure to address the problem may result in further disciplinary action.

Prior to the interview the Employee is to be advised that they may request the attendance of a representative of their choice to attend the interview.

The appropriate Manager is to prepare a written record of the interview. A copy of the document is to be provided to the employee who will acknowledge receipt of same in writing on the original. The Employee is to be given the opportunity to record any comments on the original, which is to be retained by the appropriate Manager.

#### Stage 3 - Formal Warning

The Employee's Manager is to advise the Employee of the intention to conduct an interview, which may result in a formal written warning. They will invite the Employee to seek the attendance of a representative of their choice to attend the interview. During an interview at which a formal warning may be given, the Employee's manager (or officer acting in the position) must be present.

Subject to confirmation of the details of the work performance or behavioural problem, the Employee is to be advised that the consequences of not addressing the problem will lead to disciplinary action, including possible termination of employment.

The Manager is to prepare a written record of the interview. A copy of the document is to be provided to the Employee who will acknowledge receipt of same in writing on the original. The Employee is to be given the opportunity to record any comments on the original, which is to be retained by the Manager.

#### Stage 4 - Investigation and Interview which may lead to dismissal

Following investigation of the relevant facts the employee will be told of the allegations and be given the opportunity to state their case. The Employee will be invited to request the attendance of a representative of their choice to attend the interview.

After considering the facts and the Employee's response, ElectraNet may determine to:

- a) take no further action; or
- b) take alternative disciplinary action; or
- c) dismiss the Employee with notice; or
- d) dismiss the Employee summarily.

#### 6.1.2. Alternative to Dismissal

Where ElectraNet has taken the decision that sufficient grounds for termination of employment exist, as an alternative to dismissal ElectraNet may offer the Employee:

- a) a temporary or permanent reduction in the Employee's pay point within the classification level; or
- b) a temporary or permanent placement in another position at the same or lower grade or classification. Where the Employee has been subject to a reduction, this does not preclude them from accessing their normal entitlements eg performance management, reclassification, etc.

# 6.1.3. Disciplinary Action - Dismissal without Notice

ElectraNet may dismiss an Employee without notice for gross and wilful misconduct and/or neglect of duty justifying instant dismissal, whereon the Employee will be paid up to the time of dismissal only.

During an investigation into allegations of gross and wilful misconduct and/or neglect of duty, ElectraNet may:

- a) suspend the Employee from duty (limited to two (2) weeks); or
- b) temporarily place the Employee in another position.

# 7.1. ANNUAL LEAVE

Annual Leave is provided for in the NES.

This clause supplements the NES, to the extent of any inconsistency, the NES will apply.

a) This clause covers all Employee entitlements to annual leave other than those for Shift Workers set out in clause 8.9.

# 7.1.1. Annual Leave Entitlement

For each year of service, full-time Employees other than Shift Workers are entitled to four (4) weeks paid annual leave. Annual leave may be taken for a period agreed between ElectraNet and the Employee.

# 7.1.2. Annual Leave Accrual

Annual leave entitlements accrue in accordance with the NES from the Employee's date of commencing employment with ElectraNet.

#### 7.1.3. Taking Annual Leave

- a) An Employee who has accrued in excess of eight (8) weeks annual leave may be directed to take leave.
- b) It is expected that as a minimum an Employee will take two (2) weeks annual leave in a 12 month period.
- c) It is the intention that the timing of taking annual leave entitlements will be agreed between ElectraNet and the Employee.
- d) Where ElectraNet requires leave to be taken, not less than four (4) weeks' notice will be given to the Employee.

#### 7.1.4. Annual Leave in Advance

- a) Annual leave may be given in advance where agreed between ElectraNet and the Employee.
- b) Subject to clause 7.7, Christmas Leave, where ElectraNet requires up to three (3) days leave to be taken between 25 December in any year and 1 January of the following year, and the Employee has insufficient annual leave accrual, annual leave will be given in advance for this purpose.

# 7.1.5. Payment

#### Annual Leave

- a) Annual leave payment will be calculated on Employee's ordinary rate of pay. An Employee receiving an allowance (including First Aid) on a continuous basis will continue to receive the allowance on annual leave, subject to, in the case of higher duties allowance, the Employee resuming higher duties on completion of leave.
- Employees on availability duty receive an additional payment in accordance with Appendix
   3.
- c) If an Employee has worked at least six (6) months (continuous or aggregated) on Temporary Higher Duties in a 12 month qualifying period, one years' annual leave entitlement will be paid at the rate which applied for the longest time worked at Temporary Higher Duties during the qualifying period. Under this condition, to accumulate two annual leave entitlements at Temporary Higher Duties would take a minimum of 18 months.

#### Annual Leave Loading

For the purposes of payment of a 17.5% annual leave loading, the payment will be calculated on Employee's ordinary rate of pay and includes appropriate allowances (excluding shift penalties and weekend penalty payments). The loading will be paid with leave as it is taken.

#### 7.1.6. Sickness While on Annual Leave

If an Employee is incapacitated for one (1) or more days of annual leave such that, had the Employee been at work, they would have been entitled to paid sick leave, ElectraNet will convert the annual leave days during which the Employee was incapacitated to paid sick leave.

ElectraNet will only consider exercising its discretion in these circumstances where:

- the Employee provides an acceptable medical certificate to prove that the illness or injury would have rendered the Employee unable to attend work; and
- the leave sought is within the limits of Employee's sick leave entitlement.

#### 7.1.7. Cash Out of Annual Leave

Employees may apply to cash out a portion of their annual leave accrual subject to the following:

- a) the employee has taken a minimum of two (2) weeks' (10 working days) annual leave in the previous 12 months;
- b) the minimum amount that may be paid out in any 12-month period is one week (five (5) days);
- c) the cashing out of the leave must not result in the employee's annual leave balance after the
   cashing out being less than four weeks;
- d) a written request is made by the employee for each period of "cashed out" annual leave; and
- e) salary for this purpose will be the equivalent payment at the rate which would have applied had leave been taken. The payment includes applicable annual leave loading in accordance with clause 7.1.5 of this Agreement.

It is the employee's responsibility to seek information on any taxation implications arising from the payout of annual leave.

# 7.2. PERSONAL/CARER'S LEAVE AND COMPASSIONATE LEAVE

#### 7.2.1. Entitlement

Personal/carer's leave and compassionate leave are provided for in the NES.

This clause supplements the NES, to the extent of any inconsistency, the NES will apply.

The annual personal/carer's leave entitlement set out in this clause is inclusive of the NES entitlement.

- a) Full-time Employees, other than casuals, are entitled to 12 days' leave of absence each year without loss of pay where they cannot attend work due to personal illness or injury or to provide care or support to a member of an Employee's family as defined in the NES. This entitlement does not apply to illness or injury covered by worker's compensation.
- b) Part-time Employees are entitled to this leave on a pro rata basis according to ordinary hours worked.
- c) Any part of this Employee benefit not used accumulates from year to year.

# 7.2.2. Accrual

Personal/carer's leave accrues progressively during a year of service according to the Employee's ordinary hours of work and accumulates from year to year.

#### 7.2.3. Documentation

A medical certificate signed by a qualified medical practitioner, dentist or other medical specialist may be required for any absence on sick or carer's leave for greater than three (3) working days.

A medical certificate may be required for periods less than three (3) days where ElectraNet has concerns about the validity of the sick leave claim. Such requests will only be made where an individual Employee has a record of regular or prolonged sick leave absences.

#### 7.2.4. Compassionate Leave

An Employee is entitled to two (2) days of compassionate leave for each occasion (a permissible occasion) when a member of the Employee's immediate family or a member of the Employee's household:

- a) contracts or develops a personal illness that poses a serious threat to his or her life; or
- b) sustains a personal injury that poses a serious threat to his or her life; or
- c) dies.

Where the death of the Employee's husband, wife, child, father, mother, brother or sister occurs outside Australia and the Employee is required to travel overseas, an additional two (2) days paid leave will be granted.

# 7.3. LONG SERVICE LEAVE

For Shift Workers, refer to clause 8.10 for specific long service leave entitlements. In respect of other aspects of long service leave, this clause refers to all Employees.

Where this clause is silent, long service leave entitlements will be determined in accordance with the *Long Service Leave Act 1987 (SA)* as amended from time to time. Where there is inconsistency between this Agreement and the *Long Service Leave Act 1987 (SA)*, this Agreement will apply to the extent of any inconsistency.

#### 7.3.1. Entitlement

- a) Full time Employees with 10 years continuous service are entitled to 13 weeks Long Service Leave. Thereafter an entitlement of 1.3 weeks accrues for each further completed year of service.
- b) Part-time Employees with 10 years continuous service are entitled to long service leave on a pro rata basis.
- c) Employees who have completed seven (7) years' continuous service may apply to access the pro-rata accrual of their long service leave entitlement.
- d) Long Service Leave generally will be taken in multiples of a week.
- e) Weekends occurring during long service leave are counted as part of that leave. Public holidays will not be deducted from the long service leave balance. Public holidays will be paid at ordinary time.

#### 7.3.2. Payment

- a) Payment will be at the Employee's ordinary rate of pay.
- b) Payment will be made:
  - at the same time as payment would have been made had the Employee remained at work; or
  - at the Employee's request, in advance; or
  - any other way agreed between ElectraNet and the Employee.

# 7.3.3. Taking of Long Service Leave - Options

The Employee can take paid leave at an agreed time on the following basis:

- a) at the Employee's ordinary rate of pay; or
- b) with ElectraNet's agreement Employees may take an equal period of leave without pay in conjunction with their long service leave.

#### 7.3.4. Employment While on Long Service Leave

Undertaking additional employment with an alternative Employer during periods of long service leave is prohibited.

# 7.3.5. Payment on Termination – Long Service Leave

The following Table summarises the long service leave payment made when an Employee terminates employment with ElectraNet.

Length Of Service	Type Of Termination	Payment Received	
More than 10 years	Termination for any reason	1.3 weeks for each year of service and pro rata for each completed month of service less any already taken	
Seven (7) years to less than 10 years	Termination for any reason other than gross and wilful misconduct		
Seven (7) years to less than 10 years' service	Termination for gross and wilful misconduct	No entitlement to payment	
Less than seven (7) years' service	Termination for any reason	No payment	

# 7.3.6. Sickness While on Long Service Leave

An Employee on long service leave who is incapacitated on account of illness or accident may convert to sick leave the days of incapacity beyond the first three (3) continuous days subject to the Employee providing a satisfactory medical certificate to prove that the illness or injury would have rendered them unable to attend work.

# 7.4. COMMUNITY SERVICE LEAVE

Community service leave is provided for in the NES.

# 7.5. EMERGENCY LEAVE

An Employee can apply for emergency leave with or without loss of pay for a short period to cover an urgent domestic or personal matter. The decision to grant emergency leave is at the discretion of ElectraNet.

# 7.6. PARENTAL LEAVE

Parental leave is provided for in the NES. This clause supplements the NES. To the extent of any inconsistency, the NES will apply as a minimum.

Below is a summary of the main provisions of the NES which are relevant to ElectraNet Employees as at the date of commencement of this Agreement. The NES will apply to the extent of any inconsistency with this summary. This is only a summary and Employees should be aware that there are other provisions of the NES governing parental leave which may apply to them.

#### 7.6.1. General

- a) Parental Leave is available to full time and part-time Employees (and in some circumstances casual Employees) for a period of up to 52 weeks where the Employee has or will have a responsibility for the care of the child where one of the following situations arises:
  - the birth of a child to the Employee or the Employee's spouse or de-facto partner; or
  - the placement of a child with the Employee with a view to the adoption of the child by the Employee (where adoption means the adoption of a child who is not the natural child of the Employee or Employee's spouse, who is, or will be, under 16 as at the day of placement, or the expected day of placement, of the child, and who has not lived continuously with the Employee for six (6) months or longer).
- b) An absence on parental leave does not break an Employee's continuity of service but the period that is unpaid is not to be taken into consideration in calculating the Employee's period of service.
- c) Subject to the operation of the Act, a full time Employee entitled to parental leave may, by agreement with ElectraNet, work part-time in lieu of taking parental leave.
- d) A female Employee who has given notice of her intention to take parental leave for the birth of a child must start the leave six (6) weeks before the expected date of birth unless a medical practitioner has certified that the Employee is fit to work closer to the expected date of birth.
- e) The starting and finishing dates for a period of parental leave are to be agreed between ElectraNet and the Employee. Parental leave does not extend more than a year after the date of birth, or placement for adoption, of the child for whom the leave relates.

#### 7.6.2. Entitlement

- b) An Employee is entitled to take parental leave:
  - where the Employee has at least 12 months' continuous service with ElectraNet at the date of the birth, or the expected date of birth, or placement, or expected day of placement; and
  - where the Employee has given written notice of the taking of leave at least 10 weeks before starting leave; and
  - Where the Employee has at least four (4) weeks before the intended start date of leave confirmed the intended start date and end date of the leave.
- b) An Employee is not permitted to take parental leave at the same time as the Employee's spouse, where the spouse is also employed by ElectraNet (apart from one week's unpaid parental leave taken by both parents immediately after the birth of the child or placement of the child for adoption). Where the Employees covered by the Agreement are an Employee couple and each of the Employees intend to take unpaid parental leave, in which case, concurrent parental leave may be taken up to eight (8) weeks in total.
- c) An Employee's entitlement to parental leave is reduced by any period of parental leave taken by the Employee's spouse, where the spouse is also employed by ElectraNet, for the same child (excluding the period of one (1) week or eight (8) weeks concurrent leave referred to above).

#### 7.6.3. Paid Parental Leave

In addition to the above provisions of the Act, ElectraNet provides paid parental leave as detailed below:

- An Employee, other than a casual Employee, who has completed 12 months continuous service immediately prior to the birth of the child and is the primary carer, is entitled to twelve (12) weeks paid parental leave.
- Subject to this clause, an Employee, other than a casual Employee, who has completed 12
  months of continuous service before taking custody of an adopted child and is the primary carer
  is entitled to up to12 weeks paid parental leave.

- An Employee, other than a casual Employee, who has completed 12 months continuous service immediately prior to the birth of the child and is the secondary carer, is entitled to three (3) weeks paid parental leave.
- Subject to this clause, an Employee, other than a casual Employee, who has completed 12 months of continuous service before taking custody of an adopted child and is the secondary carer is entitled to up to three (3) weeks paid parental leave.

The following conditions apply to an Employee applying for paid parental leave:

- The total of paid and unpaid parental leave is not to exceed 52 calendar weeks.
- Parental Leave will be paid at the Employee's ordinary rate of pay (excluding allowances, penalties or other additional payments) from the date parental leave commences.
- Where both parents are Employees of ElectraNet, only one Employee is entitled to the paid parental leave.
- The paid parental leave period is not to be extended by public holidays, rostered days off, programmed days off or any other leave falling within the period of leave.

Part-time Employees will have the same entitlements as full time Employees on a prorate basis according to the Employees 'Part-time Employment Agreement' with ElectraNet.

#### 7.6.4. Documentation

- a) An Employee seeking parental leave due to the birth of a child is to provide ElectraNet with a medical certificate certifying the pregnancy and the expected date of birth no later than ten weeks prior to the expected date of birth.
- b) An Employee who is applying for, or is taking, parental leave is to give ElectraNet details of the periods of parental leave taken or to be taken by the Employee's spouse for the same child.

#### 7.6.5. Return to Work

- a) On finishing parental leave, an Employee is entitled to the position held immediately prior to starting leave. If the former position is no longer available, the Employee is entitled to a position for which the Employee is qualified and suited nearest in status and remuneration to the former position.
- b) Where the Employee was acting in a temporary position immediately prior to parental leave, the entitlement under this provision relates to the Employee's substantive position.

#### 7.7. CHRISTMAS LEAVE

ElectraNet will provide one day of paid Christmas leave during the Christmas/New Year business closedown.

Employees who are rostered to work during the Christmas/New Year business closedown will be entitled to defer taking the Christmas leave day to another time to be agreed with their Manager and no later than within one month of the Christmas/New Year business closedown.

Christmas leave will not accrue, attract leave loading or be paid out on termination of employment.

# 7.8. VOLUNTEERING LEAVE

Employees may apply to access up to one paid day per calendar year for the purpose of volunteering. The conditions and application process that will apply to Volunteering Leave will be included in the ElectraNet Leave Guideline (as amended or replaced).

Volunteering leave will not accrue, attract leave loading or be paid out on termination of employment.

# 7.9. TRADE UNION TRAINING LEAVE

An Employee who

- is a member of a Union or association covered by the Agreement; and
- has been nominated by that Union or association to attend an approved Trade Union education course;

may be granted not more than five (5) days leave per calendar year to attend such training, subject to operational requirements.

# 7.10. OTHER LEAVE

The parties acknowledge the availability of certain other forms of leave (paid or unpaid), which are subject to ElectraNet guidelines, and discretions e.g. study leave.

# SECTION 8. SHIFT WORK, TRANSMISSION SYSTEM OPERATORS (TSO)

# 8.1. GENERAL

The principles outlined in this clause relate to a 37.5 hour week and shifts of eight (8) or 12 hours duration which are regarded as the standard for shift work. The parties may, by agreement, vary the hours of shift and length of roster cycles (including related changes to the amount of shift allowance) providing the principles of this section are maintained.

# 8.2. **DEFINITIONS**

continuous shift work	means work carried out on consecutive shifts of Employees throughout the 24 hours of each of at least six (6) consecutive days to an agreed pattern.
non-continuous shift	means shift work other than continuous shift work.
roster cycle	means a sequence of shifts in a roster normally to be worked as ordinary working hours and arranged so as to form a recurring cycle.
Shift Worker	means:
	<ul> <li>an Employee covered by this Section 8; and/or</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>an Employee who works a roster and who, over the roster cycle may be rostered to work ordinary time shifts on any of the seven days of the week, and who is regularly rostered to work on Sundays and public holidays.</li> </ul>
standard afternoon shift	means finishing after 6.00 p.m. and at or before midnight.
standard day shift	means starting at or after 6.00 a.m. and finishing at or before 6.00 p.m. where the rostered period of work is 12 hours.
standard early shift	means starting at 7.00 a.m. and finishing at 7.00 p.m. where the rostered period of work is 12 hours.
standard night shift	means finishing after midnight and at or before 8.00 a.m.
standard late shift	means starting at 7.00 p.m. and finishing at 7.00 am where the rostered period of work is 12 hours.
standard eight (8) hour shift	means a period of eight (8) hours during which a Shift Worker is rostered for duty.
standard twelve (12) hour shift	means a period of 12 hours during which a Shift Worker is rostered for duty.

# 8.3. SHIFT ALLOWANCES

# 8.3.1. Standard Shift Allowances

Shift Workers will be paid their ordinary rate of pay plus a shift allowance of a percentage of the ordinary rate. The standard shift allowances payable are outlined in the following Table.

Period	Shift Allowance – Percentage Of Ordinary Rate	
Weekday - standard day	Ordinary rate only	

Period	Shift Allowance – Percentage Of Ordinary Rate		
Weekday - standard afternoon	18.75%		
Weekday - standard early	5%		
Weekday - standard night /late shift	22.5%		
Saturday - all shifts	50%		
Sunday - all shifts	100%		
Public Holiday - all shifts	150%		

#### 8.3.2. Averaging of Shift Allowances

Where the parties enter into shift arrangements other than the standard day, afternoon or night shifts as defined, the parties will apply the standard shift allowances to maintain the equivalent quantum of shift allowances to all Employees according to their roster cycle.

By agreement between the parties, the allowances over a full roster cycle may be averaged for the purposes of payment.

# 8.4. PAY EQUALISATION

By agreement ElectraNet may adjust the amount payable (base rate and shift allowance only) to a Shift Worker in any one month to reduce or eliminate fluctuations of monthly pay. Amounts retained or advanced are added to or deducted from the following pay.

## 8.5. ORDINARY HOURS OF WORK

Shift Workers rostered hours will average 37.5 hours per week over a roster cycle. Should an agreed roster cycle result in an Employee working in excess of the average 37.5 ordinary hours per week over the cycle, the additional time worked will be paid as overtime.

#### 8.6. OVERTIME

#### 8.6.1. General

- a) ElectraNet can require an Employee to work reasonable overtime.
- b) Overtime must be approved by an ElectraNet officer authorised to do so.
- c) Payment for overtime is only available to Shift Workers classified in positions up to and including Grade 7 of Appendix 2.
- d) An Employee classified in Grade 8 of Appendix 2 or above may seek compensation for excessive overtime worked. ElectraNet may determine to make a payment at ordinary rate or provide time off in lieu in these circumstances.
- e) Except as provided in this subclause, the provisions of clause 3.6 Overtime apply generally to Shift Workers working overtime.
- f) Shift allowances (refer clause 8.3.1) are not payable when overtime is worked.

#### 8.6.2. Non-continuous Shift Workers

A non-continuous Shift Worker will be paid overtime at the rates outlined in the following Table.

Period	Penalty	
Weekday / Saturday	1.5x ordinary rate for the first two (2) hours;	

Period	Penalty	
	2x ordinary rate thereafter	
Sunday	2x ordinary rate	
Public Holiday	2.5x ordinary rate	

#### 8.6.3. Continuous Shift Workers

Overtime worked by a continuous Shift Worker outside the rostered hours is paid at:

Period	Penalty		
Any day other than a Public Holiday	2x ordinary rate		
Public Holiday	2.5x ordinary rate		

#### 8.7. ROSTERS

# 8.7.1. Rosters

Shift rosters will specify the commencing and finishing times of ordinary working hours of the respective shifts and the maximum number of shifts to be worked. Shift rosters must specify where time rostered is overtime.

In the absence of any custom or agreement a roster will ensure that the maximum number of standard shifts to be worked are as follows:

- a) Standard eight (8) hour shift will be no more than eight (8) shifts in any nine (9) consecutive days.
- b) Standard 12 hour shifts will be no more than three (3) consecutive 12 hour shifts without a 24 hour break.
- c) A combination of standard 12 hour shifts and standard eight (8) hour shifts will be no more than seven (7) continuous shifts without a 48 hour break.
- d) Variations to rosters.

#### Changes to the Method of Working Shifts

Changes to the method of working shifts will not occur unless agreed between the parties concerned. These changes may include but not be limited to:

- length of shift;
- rotation of shift;
- start and finish times;
- basic structure and frequency of roster;
- existing pay and associated arrangements contained within local shift agreements.

#### Replacement of an Employee on Shift Roster

- a) A non-continuous shift work Employee must be given 48 hours' notice if requested to replace another Employee on the shift roster. If notice given is less than 48 hours, then penalty rates of time and a half for the first three (3) hours and double time thereafter will apply for the first and second shift.
- b) A continuous shift work Employee must be given 24 hours' notice if requested to replace another Employee on the shift roster. If notice given is less than 24 hours, then a penalty rate of double time will apply for any shift commencing within the 24 hours from the time notice is given (excluding any normal rostered shift which falls within the 24 hour period).

#### 8.7.2. Employees Swapping Shifts between Themselves

- a) An Employee may, by mutual agreement with another shift Employee, replace that Employee's rostered shift. In such a case both Employees will be paid as if they had worked according to the roster cycle.
- b) This swap will not be considered as overtime for the purposes of clause 8.6.
- c) Where such a swap is arranged, prior notification must be given to ElectraNet before this swap can take place. ElectraNet may veto any proposed swap but will not do so unreasonably.
- d) Swapping will not occur where an Employee will have less than a 10 hour break from completion of work to commencing work on the next shift unless ElectraNet and the Employee involved agree to a minimum break of not less than eight (8) hours.
- e) In the case of Employees whose shift roster includes the working of 12 hour shifts, those Employees must have a minimum of a 10 hour break.

## 8.8. MEAL AND OTHER BREAKS

#### 8.8.1. Non-continuous Shift

a) An Employee on a non-continuous shift is entitled to an unpaid meal break of not more than 30 minutes each shift.

In the absence of any custom or agreement, an Employee will not be required to work more than five (5) hours continuously without a meal break. Where a non-continuous Shift Worker is instructed by ElectraNet to work in excess of five (5) continuous hours without a meal break, the time worked from the end of the fifth hour until a meal break is taken or work ceases will be paid at time and a half (1.5x) of the Employee's ordinary rate in addition to the appropriate shift allowance pursuant to clause 8.3.1. Provided that where a non-continuous Shift Worker is rostered to work on a Sunday or Public Holiday and is instructed to work beyond five (5) continuous hours without a meal break, the penalty rates applicable (Sunday: 2x ordinary rate; Public Holiday: 2.5x ordinary rate) will continue until the Employee ceases work.

b) Employees are entitled to a paid break of at least 10 and up to 20 minutes at a time to be agreed. The time and duration of the break will continue according to the practice within each workplace as at 1 September 1998.

#### 8.8.2. Continuous Shift

- a) An Employee on continuous shift is entitled to a paid meal break of not more than 30 minutes each shift.
- b) In the absence of any custom or agreement (e.g. existing 12 hour shift agreements), an Employee will not be required to work more than five (5) hours continuously without a paid meal break.
- c) Where an Employee is required to work two (2) consecutive standard shifts the Employee is entitled to two paid meal breaks during the second shift.

# 8.9. ANNUAL LEAVE – SHIFT WORKER

#### 8.9.1. Entitlement

a) For each 12 months of continuous service, a Shift Worker is entitled to five (5) weeks annual leave.

In practice this means continuous Shift Workers on eight (8) or 12 hour shifts will be given 192 hours paid annual leave each year.

b) Employees engaged as a Shift Worker for less than a complete year are entitled to a pro rata amount of annual leave. Pro rata leave will be calculated on the basis of minimum complete periods of 28 days of shift work aggregated in periods of not less than seven (7) days each of shift work.

#### 8.9.2. Annual Leave Accrual

Annual leave accrues progressively during a year of service according to the Employee's ordinary hours of work and accumulates from year to year.

#### 8.9.3. Taking Annual Leave

- a) An Employee who has accrued in excess of 10 weeks annual leave may be directed to take leave.
- b) It is expected that as a minimum an Employee will take two (2) weeks annual leave in a 12 month period.
- c) It is the intention that the timing of taking annual leave entitlements will be agreed between ElectraNet and the Employee.
- d) Where ElectraNet requires leave to be taken, not less than four (4) weeks' notice will be given to the Employee.

# 8.9.4. Annual Leave in Advance

- a) Annual leave may be given in advance where agreed between ElectraNet and the Employee.
- b) Where ElectraNet requires up to three (3) days leave to be taken between 25 December in any year and 1 January of the following year, and the Employee has insufficient annual leave accrual, annual leave will be given in advance for this purpose.

## 8.9.5. Payment for Annual Leave

- a) A Shift Worker who has been on shift for the full period of an entitlement will be paid an amount equal to the pay received for their normal rostered shifts occurring during the period of leave.
- b) A Shift Worker who has not been on shift for the full period of an entitlement will be paid the higher of
  - a loading of 17.5%; or
  - a proportionate amount of the roster average shift allowance in respect of each complete period of 28 days worked during the entitlement period.

# 8.9.6. Sickness While on Annual Leave

If an Employee is incapacitated for one or more days of annual leave such that, had the Employee been at work, they would have been entitled to paid sick leave, ElectraNet will convert the annual leave days during which the Employee was incapacitated to paid sick leave.

ElectraNet will only consider exercising its discretion in these circumstances where:

- the Employee provides an acceptable medical certificate to prove that the illness or injury would have rendered the Employee unable to attend work; and
- the leave sought is within the limits of Employee's sick leave entitlement.

## 8.9.7. Cash Out of Annual Leave

Employees may apply to cash out a portion of their annual leave accrual subject to the following:

- a) the employee has taken a minimum of two (2) weeks' (10 working days) annual leave in the previous 12 months;
- b) the minimum amount that may be paid out in any 12-month period is one week (five (5) days);
- c) the cashing out of the leave must not result in the employee's annual leave balance after the cashing out being less than four weeks;
- d) a written request is made by the employee for each period of "cashed out" annual leave; and

e) salary for this purpose will be the equivalent payment at the rate which would have applied had leave been taken. The payment includes applicable annual leave loading in accordance with clause 8.9.5 of this Agreement.

It is the employee's responsibility to seek information on any taxation implications arising from the payout of annual leave.

# 8.10. LONG SERVICE LEAVE

For general long service leave provisions refer to clause 7.3. Specific conditions relating to Shift Workers are as follows.

#### 8.10.1. Entitlement

Shift Workers are entitled to nine and one tenth (9.1) weeks long service leave accrual after seven (7) years qualifying service as a continuous Shift Worker, and 48.75 hours (1.3 weeks) thereafter for each year of service.

#### 8.10.2. Payment for Long Service Leave

- a) A continuous or non-continuous Shift Worker engaged on shift for more than 26 weeks at any time within five (5) years preceding the first day of taking the leave is paid a loading provided:
  - any period of 26 weeks is computed by aggregating continuous periods on shift of not less than two (2) weeks; and
  - a week is a period of seven (7) consecutive days including any rostered days off provided by the relevant shift roster.
- b) The loading paid is the average penalty of the Employee's ordinary rate determined as follows:
  - At the time of taking leave, the Employee will be paid a percentage of their ordinary rate to a maximum of 30%. The actual percentage of the ordinary rate will be calculated on the basis of:
  - 3% of the ordinary rate for each complete period of 26 weeks on continuous shift work; and
  - 1% of the ordinary rate for each period of 26 weeks if engaged on non-continuous or a combination of continuous and non-continuous shift.
- c) Where period(s) on shift work cannot be accurately or reliably ascertained, ElectraNet will make an estimate and will determine the loading (if any) payable.
- d) If any variation to the ordinary rate occurs during the period of leave the rate of payment will be adjusted accordingly.

# 8.11. MINIMUM BREAK

- a) Employees are entitled to a 10 hour break between completion of work and the commencement of their next shift.
- b) The Employee is to be released from duty for such time as the Employee has had 10 hours off duty.
- c) Where this cannot occur due to exceptional circumstances, the Employee is to be paid at double the ordinary rate until a 10 hour break can be taken.
- d) Health and safety will be the prime consideration in determining whether the Employee is to attend work without a 10 hour break.
- e) In the case of Employees whose shift roster includes the working of 12 hour shifts, those Employees must have a minimum of a 10 hour break.

# 8.12. SHIFT RELIEF

The minimum monthly salary (including shift allowances but excluding overtime payments) for a continuous shift Employee who may be called upon to do shift duties will be 10% higher than the combined total of that Employee's rate for the hours worked and for any periods of paid sick/carer's leave granted within the same month.

Any penalty rate accrued during the same pay month is to be deducted from the 10% loading.

# 8.13. DAYLIGHT SAVING

The start and finish times of shifts that straddle the introduction and cessation of daylight saving are aligned to the time of the clock.

# SECTION 9. TERMINATION, SEPARATION AND REDUNDANCY

## 9.1. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

#### 9.1.1. Notice Requirements

- a) Subject to the requirements of the Act and the Electricity Corporations (Restructuring and Disposal) Act 1999 sections 23 and 24, except in the case of casual Employees, employment may be terminated with a minimum of one months' notice by either party.
- b) In accordance with the NES, if the Employee is over 45 years old and has completed at least two (2) years of continuous service with ElectraNet, an additional week of notice will be provided.
- c) Where an Employee leaves during the notice period without agreement by ElectraNet, they will forfeit one (1) month's pay or a pro rata amount where part of the notice period has been worked.
- d) ElectraNet may elect to pay out the notice period.

## 9.1.2. Payment of Entitlements on Termination

- a) Final payment will be paid on the date of termination unless this is not possible in which case it will be made available within three (3) working days.
- b) ElectraNet will pay all accrued annual leave and long service leave entitlements to Employees.
- c) Where ElectraNet has granted leave in advance, it will deduct from the Employee's final pay that amount paid in advance and still owing.
- d) Any amount retained or advanced to an Employee to reduce or eliminate fluctuations in the monthly pay is a debt to ElectraNet or the Employee as the case may be. That amount will be taken into consideration when the termination pay is calculated.

#### 9.1.3. Job Search Entitlement

Where ElectraNet has given notice of termination to an Employee, an Employee must be allowed up to one day's time off without loss of pay for the purpose of seeking other employment. The time off is to be taken at times that are convenient to the Employee after consultation with ElectraNet.

#### 9.1.4. Death While Employed

Where an Employee dies while employed, the Employees' accrued leave entitlements and pay will be paid by ElectraNet within 14 days of notification to ElectraNet of the death, into the Employee's bank account nominated for the receipt of wages.

# 9.2. ABANDONMENT OF EMPLOYMENT

Where an Employee is absent from work for a continuous period exceeding three (3) working days without approval or notification to ElectraNet, ElectraNet may advise the Employee in writing that unless the Employee provides within 14 days substantive justification for the absence acceptable to ElectraNet, employment can be terminated.

Termination of employment by abandonment operates from the Employee's last attendance at work or the last day's absence in respect of which consent was granted (whichever is the latter) for the purposes of calculating accrued entitlements and pay.

# 9.3. REDUNDANCY

## 9.3.1. Definition

In this clause redundancy shall have the same meaning as that in the NES.

#### 9.3.2. Application

This clause applies to Non-transferred Employees (as defined in Appendix 1 of this Agreement) covered by this Agreement to assist those Employees who may be facing redundancy, by clarifying the benefits and practices that relate to this process.

This clause does not apply to Transferred Employees (defined in Appendix 1 of this Agreement). Refer to Appendix 4 of this Agreement for redundancy arrangements applying to Transferred Employees.

#### 9.3.3. Objective

The primary objective of this Agreement is to provide a clear and consistent set of guidelines surrounding redundancy benefits within ElectraNet, to ensure that all Employees are treated equally during the redundancy process.

## 9.3.4. Relationship to the NES

This clause supplements the NES, and to the extent that the NES provides for a superior entitlement to Employees, the NES will apply.

#### 9.3.5. Notice

The notice period required to terminate the employment of an Employee in relation to redundancy is consistent with clause 9.1 of this Agreement. In accordance with the NES, if the Employee is aged 45 years or older and has completed at least two (2) years of continuous service with ElectraNet, an additional week of notice will be provided.

#### 9.3.6. Redundancy Entitlements

The quantum of redundancy pay that is payable to an Employee are detailed in the table below;

Period of Continuous Service	Total Weeks of Payment	
At least one year, but less than two	6 weeks	
At least two years, but less than three	8 weeks	
At least three years, but less than four	9 weeks	
At least four years, but less than five	10 weeks	
At least five years, but less than six	12 weeks	
At least six years, but less than seven	13 weeks	
At least seven years, but less than eight	15 weeks	
At least eight years, but less than nine	16 weeks	
At least nine years, but less than 10	18 weeks	
At least 10 years	20 weeks	

ElectraNet retains its right to apply to the Fair Work Commission to seek a variation to the amount of redundancy pay payable to an Employee under the NES.

### 9.3.7. Outplacement Services

An employee who has been notified in writing that their role is surplus to requirements will be offered external outplacement assistance.

The outplacement assistance will be provided by a specialist provider and include up to three sessions to be used within six months of the date of termination of employment.

#### 9.3.8. Transfer to Lower Paid Duties

Where an Employee is transferred to lower paid duties by reason of redundancy and in order to avert the termination of the Employee's employment, the same period of notice must be given as the Employee would have been entitled to if the employment had been terminated. ElectraNet may, at ElectraNet's option, make payment in lieu of notice of an amount equal to the difference between the former ordinary time rate of pay and the ordinary time rate of pay for the number of weeks of notice still owing.

# 9.3.9. Employee Leaving During Notice Period

An Employee given notice of termination in circumstances of redundancy may terminate their employment during the period of notice. The Employee is entitled to receive the benefits and payments they would have received under this clause had they remained in employment until the expiry of the notice, but is not entitled to payment instead of notice.

#### 9.3.10. Job Search Entitlement

- a) An Employee given notice of termination in circumstances of redundancy must be allowed up to one day's time off without loss of pay during each week of notice for the purpose of seeking other employment.
- b) If the Employee has been allowed paid leave for more than one day during the notice period for the purpose of seeking other employment, the Employee must, at the request of ElectraNet, produce proof of attendance at an interview or they will not be entitled to payment for the time absent. For this purpose a statutory declaration is sufficient.

# 9.4. REDEPLOYMENT AND SALARY MAINTENANCE

The Electricity Corporations (Restructuring and Disposal) Act 1999 insofar as it applies to transferred Employees will take precedence over this clause to the extent of any inconsistency.

#### 9.4.1. Redeployment

ElectraNet will seek to provide ongoing employment to any Employee whose position is found to be in excess to requirements and who chooses to remain in employment with ElectraNet.

Redeployment of Employees will be arranged to meet business needs and taking into account the skills and abilities of the Employee.

There are two categories of redeployment:

- When a position becomes excess to ElectraNet's needs; or
- Where an Employee is unable to continue in their current position for medical reasons.

When it is possible to redeploy an Employee, ElectraNet will do so in a consistent manner recognising its obligations to that person.

Any redeployment option will give due regard to the personal situation of the Employee. Employees have available to them:

- Personal assistance and counselling;
- Salary and wage maintenance (in accordance with clause 9.4.2) and relocation assistance where applicable.

The aim of redeployment is to place the Employee in a position (full-time/part-time) that is acceptable to the Employee and ElectraNet.

An Employee may be seconded or temporarily transferred to another job. However, Employees identified for redeployment are not to be used on a casual or permanent relief basis, unless special circumstances apply.

Temporary placements should avoid the need to change work location where possible.

ElectraNet will monitor all temporary placement arrangements to ensure that both the Employee's and business needs are being met.

#### **Employee Responsibilities**

Employees being redeployed are to:

- fully inform themselves of the various options available;
- actively and positively seek an approved position compatible with their skills and the business need;
- accept temporary placements during the period when they are awaiting placement in a position;
- undertake training that is approved by ElectraNet and considered necessary to enable them to carry out the duties of the position to which they are redeployed; and
- to the greatest extent possible, discharge the responsibilities and obligations of the position to which they have been redeployed as if they had been appointed to that position.

## 9.4.2. Salary Maintenance

Where an Employee is receiving a base rate of pay that is in excess of the base rate of pay of the position to which they are redeployed, ElectraNet shall provide salary/wage maintenance.

The Employee's base rate is to be maintained in full including any increases that may be awarded until either:

- ElectraNet redeploys the Employee to a permanent position with a commensurate rate of pay; or
- five (5) years has elapsed whichever is the sooner.

Where, due to redeployment, an Employee is to have Shift Penalties and/or Duty Officer Allowance reduced, they can elect to have the reduction phased in over three (3) years (i.e. full allowance maintenance for twelve months, two thirds for a further twelve months and one third for a further twelve months) or immediately receive an equivalent lump sum.

# 9.5. REWRITE ELECTRICITY CORPORATION (RESTRUCTURING AND DISPOSAL) ACT 1999

For the purposes of this Agreement, the interpretation of clauses 23 and 24 of the *Electricity Corporations (Restructuring and Disposal) Act 1999* is in Appendix 4.

# 10.1. CONSULTATION REGARDING MAJOR WORKPLACE CHANGE

# 10.1.1. ElectraNet to Discuss Change

- a) Before ElectraNet has made a definite decision to introduce major changes in production, program, organisation, structure or technology that are likely to have significant effects on Employees, ElectraNet must consult with the Employees who may be affected by the proposed changes and their representatives, if any.
- b) ElectraNet will consult with Employees and any person or organisation whom the Employees chose to represent them. The parties agree that such consultation will enable Employees not only to be informed but will also provide them with a genuine opportunity to influence and have input into any proposed change. Further, the parties agree that the process of consultation will not be utilised to unreasonably delay or frustrate proposed changes.
- c) "Significant effects" include termination of employment; major changes in the composition, operation or size of ElectraNet's workforce or in the skills required; the elimination or diminution of job opportunities, promotion opportunities or job tenure; the alteration of hours of work; the need for retraining or transfer of Employees to other work or locations; and the restructuring of jobs. Provided that where this Agreement makes provision for alteration of any of these matters an alteration is deemed not to have significant effect.
- d) ElectraNet must discuss with the Employees affected and their representatives, if any, the introduction of the changes referred to in clause 10.1.1 (a) and (b) above, the effects the changes are likely to have on Employees and measures to avert or mitigate the adverse effects of such changes on Employees and must give prompt consideration to matters raised by the Employees and/or their representatives in relation to the changes.
- e) The discussions must commence as early as practicable before a definite decision has been made by ElectraNet to make the changes referred to in clause 10.1.1 (a) and (b) above
- f) For the purposes of such discussion, ElectraNet must provide in writing to the Employees concerned and their representatives, if any, all relevant information about the changes including the nature of the changes proposed, the expected effects of the changes on Employees and any other matters likely to affect Employees provided that ElectraNet is not required to disclose confidential information the disclosure of which would be contrary to ElectraNet's interests.

# **10.2. DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE**

The success of the mutual relations between ElectraNet, and the Employees under this Agreement depends on the shared commitment to address issues in a fair and responsible manner.

ElectraNet and Employees agree to negotiate in good faith and on the basis of mutual trust.

ElectraNet has an open door policy for all Employees to communicate directly with leaders and managers.

All issues of concern to management and employees will be dealt with in accordance with the following procedure with a view to issues being resolved promptly at the workplace level.

Nothing in this procedure precludes an Employee from seeking the support or representation of any person or organisation whom the Employee chooses to represent them at any of the following stages.

- Step 1 The Employee and their Manager will meet to identify and define the matter causing concern. The Employee and Manager will discuss the matter in a genuine attempt to resolve the issue. If the matter remains unresolved, then
- Step 2 The problem is to be described in writing by the Manager and referred to the next level up Manager for resolution. If required, additional parties may be identified and brought into discussions to assist in achieving a resolution. If the matter remains unresolved, then

- Step 3 ElectraNet and the Employee and their representatives (if any) will make a further attempt to resolve the issue. If the matter remains unresolved, then
- Step 4 ElectraNet or the Employee or their representatives (if any) may refer the matter to the Fair Work Commission for conciliation and/or arbitration, or where agreed, to an alternative independent mediator.

The decision reached by such an independent mediator or by the Fair Work Commission will be final and binding upon ElectraNet and the Employee and their representation (if any) subject only to rights of appeal pursuant to the Act as amended from time to time.

Employees will continue to work normally and the status quo will be preserved while these procedures are being followed except where the personal safety of Employees is at risk.

# **APPENDIX 1. DEFINITIONS**

Act	means the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth);
ElectraNet	means ElectraNet Pty Ltd (trading as ElectraNet), and includes, where the context permits any duly authorised Employee acting on behalf of ElectraNet;
ElectraNet Pty Ltd	means the Employer (trading as ElectraNet);
Employee	means any person employed by ElectraNet whose classification is covered by this Agreement and means both the singular and plural where not specified otherwise in the clause;
Employee Couple	means if each of the Employees is the spouse or de facto partner of the other.
Fair Work Commission	means the national workplace relations tribunal established under the Act;
Manager	means any person who supervises the work of others;
NES	means the National Employment Standards as contained in sections 59 to 131 of the Act;
Non-transferred Employees	means Employees who are not Transferred Employees;
ordinary rate	means any pay rate specified and payable to an Employee for the ordinary hours of work without applying any overtime rate, shift allowance or other allowance (including Temporary Higher Class Duties) or payment pursuant to this Agreement;
pay point	means any salary rate specified in Appendix 2;
penalty rate	means an additional amount paid for working in excess of agreed ordinary or rostered hours;
Reclassification	means a change to the grade of a position as determined by ElectraNet;
standard working hours	means a daily span of hours normally worked by full time Employees within a work location;
TEC	means Total Employment Cost;
Transferred Employees	means Employees covered by the definition in Appendix 4;
Union	means any Employee organisation party to this Agreement;
week	means seven (7) consecutive calendar days;
weekday	means any day from Monday to Friday inclusive which is not a public holiday;
working day	means:
	in the case of a day worker, any week day; or
	in the case of a Shift Worker, any day on which the Employee is rostered for duty on an ordinary shift which begins on that day;
year of service	means a period of 365 days (366 days in a leap year) between beginning employment and the anniversary in the next and subsequent years

# TABLE 1:Classifications

Employees are classified according to four streams, being the technical stream, administrative stream, professional/managerial/specialist stream and operations stream.

Movement between classification levels will be by appointment or promotion to a vacant position, reclassification, or the acquisition of additional skills or competencies in accordance with the requirements for the position as specified in *Schedule B—Classification Descriptions* of the *Electrical Power Industry Award 2010* and as required by ElectraNet and its business needs.

		Electrical Power Industry Award Grade					
ElectraNet Grade	Pay Level	Technical Grade	Administrative Grade	Professional/ Manager/ Specialist Grade	Operations Grade		
Grade 1	Level 1	Technical Grade 1	Administrative Grade 1				
Grade 2	Level 2	Technical Grade 2	Administrative Grade 2		Operations Grade 2		
Grade 3	Level 3	Technical Grade 3	Administrative Grade 3		Operations Grade 3		
Grade 4	Level 4	Technical Grade 4	Administrative Grade 4				
Grade 5	Level 5	Technical Grade 5	Administrative Grade 5	Professional / Manager / Specialist Grade 5	Operations Grade 5		
Grade 5	Level 6	Technical Grade 6	Administrative Grade 6		Operations Grade 6		
Grade 6	Level 7	Technical Grade 7		Professional / Manager / Specialist Grade 7	Operations Grade 7		
Grade 7	Level 8			Professional / Manager / Specialist Grade 8	Operations Grade 8		
	Level 9						
Grade 8	Level 10			Professional / Manager/ Specialist Grade 10	Operations Grade 10		
Not covered by the Agreement	Level 11			Professional / Manager/ Specialist Grade 11			

# TABLE 2: Grade/Classification Pay Structure - Grades 1 – 8 Rates Applicable 1 January 2016.

		ion r ay otractare - Grade		Toundary 2010
alary Scale	Step	Annual Rate 1 January 2016	Annual Rate 1 July 2016	Annual Rate 1 July 2017
		\$	\$	\$
	1	\$52,054	\$53,485	\$54,822
	2	\$53,623	\$55,098	\$56,476
	3	\$55,222	\$56,740	\$58,159
Oracle 1	4	\$56,886	\$58,451	\$59,912
Grade 1	5	\$58,582	\$60,193	\$61,697
	6	\$60,340	\$61,999	\$63,549
	7	\$62,161	\$63,870	\$65,467
	8	\$64,014	\$65,775	\$67,419
			11	
	1	\$66,707	\$68,541	\$70,255
	2	\$68,717	\$70,607	\$72,372
Grade 2	3	\$70,777	\$72,723	\$74,541
	4	\$72,899	\$74,904	\$76,777
	5	\$75,086	\$77,151	\$79,080
		12571 2 Park	and a second	and the second
	1	\$78,239	\$80,391	\$82,400
Grade 3	2	\$80,582	\$82,798	\$84,868
	3	\$83,008	\$85,290	\$87,423
	1	\$86,671	\$89,055	\$91,281
Grade 4	2	\$89,260	\$91,715	\$94,008
	3	\$91,945	\$94,474	\$96,836
10 20		aller and a second		
	1	\$95,707	\$98,339	\$100,797
Grade 5	2	\$98,104	\$100,802	\$103,322
	3	\$100,566	\$103,332	\$105,915
- 1			1 115	
	1	\$104,678	\$107,557	\$110,246
Grade 6	2	\$107,299	\$110,250	\$113,006
	3	\$109,982	\$113,007	\$115,832

Grade/Classification Pay Structure - Grades 1-8 Rates Applicable 1 January 2016

ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016

Salary Scale	Step	Annual Rate 1 January 2016	Annual Rate 1 July 2016	Annual Rate 1 July 2017
		\$	\$	\$
		(Overtime	Limit)	
	1	\$115,332	\$118,504	\$121,466
Grade 7 2	2	\$118,210	\$121,461	\$124,497
	3	\$121,169	\$124,501	\$127,614
1997 - 19				
Grade 8	1	\$126,065	\$129,532	\$132,770
	2	\$129,216	\$132,769	\$136,088
	3	\$132,447	\$136,089	\$139,491
	4	\$135,694	\$139,426	\$142,911
	5	\$139,019	\$142,842	\$146,413

# Grade/Classification Pay Structure - Grades 1-8 Rates Applicable 1 January 2016

# TABLE 3.1: Junior and Work Experience Employees Holding a Position ClassifiedIn Grade 1 of This Appendix

		1 Janu	ary 2016			
		Junior				
Age	% of Grade 1 - Step 1	Weekly Rate \$	Hourly Rate \$	% of Grade 1 - Step 1 including casual loading	Casual Weekly Minimum Rate \$	Casual Hourly Rate \$
At age 18 and under	73	\$728.42	\$19.42	91	\$910.52	\$24.28
At age 19	83	\$828.20	\$22.09	104	\$1,035.25	\$27.61
At age 20	93	\$927.99	\$24.75	116	\$1,159.98	\$30.93
		Specific to W	ork Experier	nce		- and
At age 21				118	\$1,177.44	\$31.40
At age 22 and beyond				124	\$1,237.31	\$33.00

<b>TABLE 3.2:</b>	Junior and Work Experience Employees Holding a Position Classified
	In Grade 1 of This Appendix

		1 Ju	ly 2016			
		Junior				
Age	% of Grade 1 - Step 1	Weekly Rate \$	Hourly Rate \$	% of Grade 1 - Step 1 including casual loading	Casual Weekly Minimum Rate \$	Casual Hourly Rate \$
At age 18 and under	73	\$748.45	\$19.96	91	\$935.56	\$24.95
At age 19	83	\$850.98	\$22.69	104	\$1,063.72	\$28.37
At age 20	93	\$953.50	\$25.43	116	\$1,191.88	\$31.78
an like the	111	Specific to W	ork Experier	ice		1
At age 21				118	\$1,209.82	\$32.26
At age 22 and beyond				124	\$1,271.34	\$33.90

NOTE: If an Employee has advanced in a grade to a pay point greater than the prescribed minimum for their age, the Employee will maintain the higher pay point.

# TABLE 3.3: Junior and Work Experience Employees Holding a Position ClassifiedIn Grade 1 of This Appendix

		1 Ju	ly 2017			
Age	% of Grade 1 - Step 1	Junior Weekly Rate \$	Hourly Rate \$	% of Grade 1 - Step 1 including casual loading	Casual Weekly Minimum Rate \$	Casual Hourly Rate \$
At age 18 and under	73	\$767.16	\$20.46	91	\$958.95	\$25.57
At age 19	83	\$872.25	\$23.26	104	\$1,090.31	\$29.08
At age 20	93	\$977.34	\$26.06	116	\$1,221.68	\$32.58
1 The last de last		Specific to W	ork Experier	nce		1
At age 21				118	\$1,240.07	\$33.07
At age 22 and beyond				124	\$1,303.12	\$34.75

NOTE: If an Employee has advanced in a grade to a pay point greater than the prescribed minimum for their age, the Employee will maintain the higher pay point.

# **APPENDIX 3. ALLOWANCES**

# 1. GENERAL

This Agreement requires payment of the following allowances where applicable:

#### Availability Allowances

Duty Officer/Officer in Charge Availability

#### Other Allowances

- First Aid
- Overnight Expense
- Motor Vehicle Allowance

Allowances are paid in addition to ordinary pay and are subject to the following conditions:

a) When an Employee works overtime, allowances will be paid at the hourly equivalent of the daily amount applicable for the actual hours worked.

The actual allowance payable and the criteria used to increase allowances are shown in Table 1 of this Appendix.

# 2. CALCULATION OF ALLOWANCES

Where allowances are expressed as a percentage of a grade, pay point or classification, the rate of pay applicable from time to time under this Agreement (refer clause 5.1.1) will be used to calculate the quantum of the allowance.

#### 3. TRAVEL EXPENSES

ElectraNet will meet reasonable expenses for accommodation, travel, meals and incidentals, when an Employee is required to work on intrastate or interstate company business.

# 4. MOTOR VEHICLE ALLOWANCE

Where ElectraNet approves the use of an Employee's own motor vehicle on ElectraNet business, the allowance set out in this Appendix applies.

# 5. OVERSEAS TRAVEL

When travelling overseas, all arrangements will be determined by ElectraNet and the Employee prior to travel.

## 6. AVAILABILITY ALLOWANCES

There is only one available allowance type in this Agreement:

• Duty Officer/Officer in Charge - Where an Employee is responsible for co-ordinating the afterhours availability service in a defined area as required.

Such an Employee will carry out the duties either from home or attend the call out.

# 6.1. Duty Officer / Officer In Charge - Payment For Time Spent On Telephone

A Duty Officer / Officer in Charge will be paid for the time spent working on the telephone whenever the period or periods aggregate to more than 15 minutes on any day. Such payment is at the appropriate penalty rate.

A call back minimum is not applicable to time spent on the telephone.

# 6.2. Payment on Annual Leave

Employees on availability duty are paid in addition to the payment of annual leave, one weeks allowance equal to Duty Officer / Officer in Charge - Allowance 1 (whichever is applicable) provided the Employee has been rostered for availability duty for a continuous period of 12 months qualifying service.

This allowance will be paid to an Employee:

- once only in respect of each 12 months of such qualifying service; and
- in the month of their anniversary date.

# TABLE 1: Availability Allowances Rates and Future Increases to Rates

	Duty Offic	er/Officer in Charge		
	Allowance 1 - Minimu	m rest period observed (wee	ekly)	
Increase Criteria*	The quantum of this allowance is 29% of Grade 3 Step 1 of Appendix 2.			
Increases	1 January 2016	1 July 2017 \$458.07		
	\$434.94 \$446.90			
and a	Allowance 2 - Minimum	rest period not observed (w	eekly)	
Increase Criteria*	The quantum of this allowan	ce is 36.5% of Grade 3 Step 1	of Appendix 2	
Increases	1 January 2016	1 July 2016	1 July 2017	
	\$547.42	\$562.48	\$576.54	

\* Increases will occur at the same time as movements in Grade 3 Step 1 of Appendix 2.

# 7. TEMPORARY HIGHER DUTIES ALLOWANCE (THD)

# 7.1. General

- a) THD apply where an Employee is required by ElectraNet to undertake:
  - the majority of the responsibilities of a higher classified position; or
  - work for which a higher rate of pay applies.
- b) Where an Employee acts in a higher position during the absence of another Employee taking flexitime, the relieving Employee is not entitled to THD unless approved by ElectraNet.

# 7.2. Payment of Temporary Higher Duties

- a) The Employee will be paid a temporary rate equal to in the case of Employees classified in Appendix 2, the minimum rate for the position as classified.
- b) Flexitime is paid at the higher rate where taken during a period of THD.
- c) Where an Employee has performed THD for three months continuously prior to a period of annual leave, personal/carer's leave or a period of attracting accident pay, such leave or accident pay will be based on the Employee's higher duties rate.

# 7.3. THD paid while working overtime

An Employee who is in receipt of THD and is required to work overtime is paid:

- a) at the higher rate where the overtime is continuous with ordinary time; or
- b) at the Employee's ordinary rate where the overtime is not continuous with ordinary time and the Employee is not required to perform THD.

# 8. OTHER ALLOWANCES

# TABLE 2: Other Allowances and Future Increases to Rates

	First /	Aid Allowance	
Detail	An Employee who has been and appropriate first aid qual from St John's Ambulance, Re appointed by ElectraNet to pe Amount shown is the value pe	ifications recognised by Elec ed Cross or similar body) will erform first aid in the workplac	ctraNet (such as a certificate be paid First Aid Allowance i
Increase Criteria	Future increases are in line with any increases in the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016.		
Increases	1 January 2016	1 July 2016	1 July 2017
	(3.0%)	(2.75%)	(2.5%)
	\$19.22	\$19.75	\$20.25

	Overnight Allowance		
Detail	Intrastate		
	An Employee travelling intrastate can claim:		
	a) An allowance of \$102.31 per night for all of the following within a 24 hour period breakfast, midday and evening meals, plus incidentals. Approve accommodation can be billed directly to ElectraNet through the invoicing syster or paid by credit card. Intrastate Overnight Expense Allowance will be pai through the payroll system. Where payment is not available prior to travel via th payroll system, upon request, ElectraNet will provide payment.		
	b) Accommodation alternative		
	Where an Employee elects to stay with family or friends, a payment of \$25 penight will be paid in lieu of ElectraNet providing accommodation. The payment we be paid through the payroll system.		
Increase	a) Intrastate - \$102.31 per 24 hour period.		
Criteria	Future increases in this allowance will be in line with the CPI increase for 'All Groups Adelaide', as published by the ABS for the previous financial year and will be applicable from the first pay period after 30 September of each year.		
	The first increase in this allowance will be based on the CPI results for the 2014/1 financial year.		

	Motor Vehicle Allowance
Detail	Payable where ElectraNet and an Employee agree that the Employee is to use their own motor vehicle on ElectraNet business.
Increase Criteria	\$0.87 cents per kilometre Future increases in this allowance will be in line with the CPI increase for 'All Groups - Adelaide', as published by the ABS for the previous financial year and will be applicable from the first pay period after 30 September of each year.
	The first increase in this allowance will be based on the CPI results for the 2014/15 financial year.

# APPENDIX 4. REWRITE – ELECTRICITY CORPORATIONS (RESTRUCTURING AND DISPOSAL) ACT 1999

#### **Transferred Employees**

1.

Definitions		
"Award or agreement"	means an award or agreement made under the <i>Fair Work Act</i> 2009 of the Commonwealth as amended from time to time;	
"ECRD Act"	means Electricity Corporations (Restructuring and Disposal) Act 1999;	
"Electricity supply industry"	means the industry involved in the generation, transmission, distribution, supply and sale of electricity;	
"Public sector employment"	means employment in the Public Service of the State of South Australia or by an instrumentality of the Crown or a statutory corporation;	
"Private sector Employer"	means:	
	<ul> <li>an Employer to which an Employee is transferred under section 23(2) of the ECRD Act; or</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>an Employer who is related to an Employer to which an Employee is transferred under section 23(2) of the ECRD Act;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>an Employer whose shares are transferred to a purchaser under a sale/lease agreement pursuant to section 13(3) of the ECRD Act;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>an Employer who is related to an Employer whose shares are transferred to a purchaser under a sale/lease agreement pursuant to section 13(3) of the ECRD Act;</li> </ul>	
"Rate of pay"	includes an amount paid to an Employee to maintain the Employee's rate of pay in a position at the same level as the rate of pay of a position previously occupied by the Employee;	
Employers are "related" for the purposes of this clause if:	<ul> <li>a) one takes over or otherwise acquires the business or part of the business of the other; or</li> </ul>	
	<li>b) they are related bodies corporate within the meaning of the Corporations Law; or</li>	
	<ul> <li>c) a series of relationships can be traced between them under paragraph (a) or (b) of this definition;</li> </ul>	
"Relevant employment"	means:	
	<ul> <li>employment by the Electricity Trust of South Australia, an electricity corporation or a state owned company; or</li> </ul>	
	<li>employment by a private sector Employer;</li>	

- "Separation package" means an offer of a payment of an amount not less than the lesser of the following: (8 + 3CYS)WP; a) 104WP, where: b) CYS is the number of the transferred Employee's continuous years of service in relevant employment determined in the manner fixed by the Minister by order in writing under section 24(6) of the ECRD Act; and WP is the transferred Employees weekly rate of pay determined in the manner fixed by the Minister by order in writing under section 24(6) of the ECRD Act: "State owned company" means: a) a company incorporated under the Corporations Law all the shares of which are held by Ministers of the Crown, nominated by the Minister by notice in the South Australian Gazette as a State-owned company for the purposes of the ECRD Act; or b) a subsidiary of such a company; "Transferred Employee" means an Employee who was transferred by an Employee transfer order under a) section 23(2)(c) or (d) of the ECRD Act to the employment of the Employer under a sale/lease agreement; or
  - b) who was in the employment of a company that was an electricity corporation or a state owned company (as those terms are defined in the ECRD Act) when shares in the company were transferred under a sale/lease agreement made under section13(3) of the ECRD Act; and
  - who has remained continuously in the employment of the C) Employer since the making of the relevant sale/lease agreement: and
  - d) whose employment is subject to an award or agreement.
- 2. Transferred Employees whose employment is transferred by order of the Minister under section 23(2) of the ECRD Act are entitled to the following terms and conditions of employment upon the transfer of their employment by such an order of the Minister.
  - 2.1 The transfer of a transferred Employee does not:
    - a) Affect a transferred Employees remuneration;
    - b) Interrupt a transferred Employees continuity of service:
    - Constitute the redundancy or retrenchment of the transferred Employee; c)
  - The transfer of a transferred Employee must not (except with the transferred Employees 2.2 consent):
    - Involve any reduction in the transferred Employee's status; or a)
    - Involve any change in the Employee's duties that would be unreasonable having b) regard to the transferred Employee's skills, ability and experience.
  - 2.3 A transferred Employee's status is not reduced by:
    - A reduction in the scope of the business operations for which the transferred a) Employee is responsible; or

- b) A reduction in the number of Employees under the transferred Employee's supervision or management, if the transferred Employee's functions in their general nature remain the same as, or similar to, the transferred Employee's functions before the transfer.
- 2.4 The transferred Employee's terms and conditions of employment are subject to variation after the transfer in the same way as before the transfer.
- 2.5 A transferred Employee's employment will be taken to be continuous after the transfer in respect of the transferred Employee's entitlement to annual leave, sick leave and long service leave.
- 3. The employment of a transferred Employee may not be terminated as a consequence of the Employee's position being identified, within the Employee's first two years after becoming a transferred Employee, as surplus to the Employer's requirements unless:
  - a) The Employer offers and the transferred Employee accepts a separation package; or
  - b) The Employer and the transferred Employee otherwise agree to a termination of the transferred Employee's position.
- 4. The employment of a transferred Employee may not be terminated as a consequence of the Employee's position being identified, after the expiry of a period of two (2) years after the Employee becomes a transferred Employee, as surplus to the Employer's requirements unless the Employer offers the transferred Employee a separation package and the Government offers the transferred Employee public sector employment in accordance with section 24(2) and 24 (10) of the ECRD Act and;
  - a) The transferred Employee accepts either of those offers; or
  - b) The transferred Employee fails to accept either offer within the periods referred to in clauses 6 and 7.
- 5. If a transferred Employee's position is identified as surplus to the Employer's requirements the Employer is not required to offer the Employee a separation package if the transferred Employee is relocated to another position with the Employer or a related Employer in the electricity supply industry with:
  - a) Functions that are in their general nature the same as, or similar to, the functions of the surplus position; and
  - A principal workplace or principal work depot not more than 45 kilometres distant by the shortest practicable route by road from the principal workplace or principal work depot of the surplus position; and
  - c) A rate of pay that is at least equivalent to the rate of pay of the surplus position.
- 6. A transferred Employee who is made an offer of a separation package must be allowed at least one month to accept the offer.
- 7. A transferred Employee who is made an offer of a separation package and an offer of public sector employment must be allowed at least one month from the date of the offer of public sector employment to accept either of the offers.
- 8. If a transferred Employee has been offered both a separation package and public sector employment and has failed to accept either offer within the period allowed, the transferred Employee is taken to have accepted the offer of a separation package.
- 9. A transferred Employee who accepts (or is taken to have accepted) an offer of a separation package under clause 3 or 4 or 8 or an offer of public sector employment under clause 4 agrees to waive any right to \*compensation or any payment arising from the cessation or change of employment, other than the right to superannuation payments or other payments to which the transferred Employee would be entitled on resignation assuming that the transferred Employee were not surplus to the Employer's requirements.
- 10. For the purposes of clause 3 the employment of a transferred Employee is taken not to have been terminated by reason only of the fact that the transferred Employee is relocated to another position

in the employment of the same Employer or a related Employer in the electricity supply industry if the rate of pay of that position is at least equivalent to the rate of pay of the Employee's previous position.

11. The parties to this agreement agree that the intention of this clause is to reflect the provisions of sections 23 and 24 of the ECRD Act and no inconsistency between this clause and sections 23 and 24 of the ECRD Act is intended.

# APPENDIX 5. ANNUALISED PAY AGREEMENT – TRANSMISSION SYSTEM OPERATORS

# 1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this Agreement is to establish annualised pay for the ElectraNet Transmission System Operators in accordance with clause 5.1.5 'Annualised Pay' of the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016.

#### 2. Terms of Agreement

- 2.1 This Agreement came into effect from 1 February 2006 and shall continue until it is terminated or varied in accordance with clause 2.3 below.
- 2.2 This Agreement shall be read and interpreted in conjunction with the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016. In the event that there is any inconsistency this Agreement will take precedence to the extent of the inconsistency.
- 2.3 A review of the Agreement may be requested by ElectraNet or the majority of the ElectraNet Transmission System Operators at the expiry of the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016.

Termination or variation of the Agreement can only occur by agreement between the majority of Transmission System Operators and ElectraNet. Any variations to the Agreement will apply to all Transmission System Operators.

- 2.4 Each Transmission System Operator will be paid their Ordinary Rate of Pay plus the Annualisation Percentage of 29.0% i.e. their Annual Pay will be 129.0% of their Annual Ordinary Rate of Pay with Monthly Pay being one twelfth of this amount. The Annualisation Percentage will replace all 'Standard Shift Allowances', 'Public Holiday Penalties', 'Relief Period Penalties' and 'Pay Make Up Payments' that the Employee would otherwise be entitled to under the following clauses of the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016.
  - Clause 8.3.1. 'Standard Shift Allowances'
  - Clause 8.12 'Shift Relief'
- 2.5 The Annualisation Percentage has been established based on the average penalties earned by the nine Transmission System Operators above their Ordinary Rate of Pay over the full period of the current ninety week roster in accordance with the above clauses of the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016. The elements of the Annualisation Percentage are summarised in Attachment 1.
- 2.6 The Annualisation Percentage will remain at 29.0% provided that the Shift Roster and Transmission System Operator staffing level in place at the date of this Agreement continue.

Should the Shift Roster or staffing level be changed then ElectraNet and the Transmission System Operators may agree a new Annualisation Percentage based on the new arrangements. The new percentage will be calculated based on the average payments per Employee that the Transmission System Operators would be entitled to under the new arrangements in accordance with the above clauses.

- 2.7 Under this Agreement Transmission System Operators will continue to be entitled to payment for Overtime in accordance with clause 8.6 of the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016 and payment of penalties for replacing another Employee on the shift roster with less than 24 hours' notice (referred to as 'Short Change of Shift') in accordance with clauses 8.7.1 (b) 'Replacement of an Employee on Shift Roster' of the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016. Such payments will be made monthly but do not form part of the annualisation calculation.
- 2.8 No industrial action will be taken regarding this Agreement and ElectraNet and the Transmission System Operators will work co-operatively to resolve any issues which arise.

Any disputes regarding the Agreement will be resolved in accordance with Section 10 of the Agreement.

#### **Annualisation Percentage Attachment 1**

The Annualisation Percentage comprises the following elements which are based on the average penalties earned by Transmission System Operators above their base salary according to the Shift Roster in place at the date of this Agreement and a staffing level of nine operators in accordance with the following Clauses of the ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016.

- Clause 8.3.1. 'Standard Shift Allowances'
- Clause 8.12 'Shift Relief'

'Average Shift Penalty' 21.56%

'Public Holidays Penalty' 4.36%

'Relief Period (Planned Absences)' 2.77% - including Pay Make Up during Relief

'Pay Make Up (Non Relief Periods)' 0.31%

TOTAL 29.00%

S . 1150 .

ŝ

# SIGNATORY PAGE

This agreement is signed in accordance with the requirements of the Fair Work Act 2009.

Signature:

Name:

Address:

Employer ob. 0 **Steve Masters** 

uaress:

52-55 East Terrace, Rymill Park, Adelaide, SA 5000

Authority to sign the agreement – Signatory holds the office of:

Authority to sign the agreement –

Signatory holds the office of:

Chief Executive · · ElectraNet

0......

**Representative of Employees** 

Signature:

Name:

Address:

Sarah Andrews 22 Greenhill Road, Wayville, SA, 5034 Director, SA Branch **Professionals Australia** 

Rep	presentative of Employees
Signature:	PB.C.
Name:	Joseph Scales
Address:	5-9 Rundle Street, Kent Town, SA 5067
Authority to sign the agreement -	Branch Secretary
Signatory holds the office of:	Australian Services Union (ASU) SA+NT

Rej	presentative of Employees
Signature:	pully.
Name:	John Adley
Address:	312 South Road, Richmond, SA 5033
Authority to sign the agreement –	State Secretary
Signatory holds the office of:	CEPU
TIONS ELECTRICAL PLUS	(SA Branch of the Electrical and Plumbing Union)
R SERVICES DIVISION	
The second second	

ElectraNet Enterprise Agreement 2016

NO

•



# Model consultation term

(regulation 2.09)

# Model consultation term

- (1) This term applies if the employer:
  - (a) has made a definite decision to introduce a major change to production, program, organisation, structure or technology in relation to its enterprise that is likely to have a significant effect on the employees; or
  - (b) proposes to introduce a change to the regular roster or ordinary hours of work of employees.

#### Major change

- (2) For a major change referred to in paragraph (1)(a):
  - (a) the employer must notify the relevant employees of the decision to introduce the major change; and
  - (b) subclauses (3) to (9) apply.
- (3) The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- (4) If:
  - (a) a relevant employee appoints, or relevant employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and
  - (b) the employee or employees advise the employer of the identity of the representative;

the employer must recognise the representative.

- (5) As soon as practicable after making its decision, the employer must:
  - (a) discuss with the relevant employees:
    - (i) the introduction of the change; and
    - (ii) the effect the change is likely to have on the employees; and
    - (iii) measures the employer is taking to avert or mitigate the adverse effect of the change on the employees; and
  - (b) for the purposes of the discussion—provide, in writing, to the relevant employees:
    - (i) all relevant information about the change including the nature of the change proposed; and
    - (ii) information about the expected effects of the change on the employees; and
    - (iii) any other matters likely to affect the employees.
- (6) However, the employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employees.
- (7) The employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the major change by the relevant employees.
- (8) If a term in this agreement provides for a major change to production, program, organisation, structure or technology in relation to the enterprise of the employer, the requirements set out in paragraph (2)(a) and subclauses (3) and (5) are taken not to apply.
- (9) In this term, a major change is *likely to have a significant effect on employees* if it results in:
  - (a) the termination of the employment of employees; or

- (b) major change to the composition, operation or size of the employer's workforce or to the skills required of employees; or
- (c) the elimination or diminution of job opportunities (including opportunities for promotion or tenure); or
- (d) the alteration of hours of work; or
- (e) the need to retrain employees; or
- (f) the need to relocate employees to another workplace; or
- (g) the restructuring of jobs.

Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work

- (10) For a change referred to in paragraph (1)(b):
  - (a) the employer must notify the relevant employees of the proposed change; and
  - (b) subclauses (11) to (15) apply.
- (11) The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.

(12) If:

- (a) a relevant employee appoints, or relevant employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and
- (b) the employee or employees advise the employer of the identity of the representative;

the employer must recognise the representative.

- (13) As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce the change, the employer must:
  - (a) discuss with the relevant employees the introduction of the change; and
  - (b) for the purposes of the discussion—provide to the relevant employees:
    - (i) all relevant information about the change, including the nature of the change; and
    - (ii) information about what the employer reasonably believes will be the effects of the change on the employees; and
    - (iii) information about any other matters that the employer reasonably believes are likely to affect the employees; and
  - (c) invite the relevant employees to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities).
- (14) However, the employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employees.
- (15) The employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the change by the relevant employees.
- (16) In this term:

*relevant employees* means the employees who may be affected by a change referred to in subclause (1).